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Washington Vaccine Association 
Board of Directors’ Meeting 

November 8, 2018; 2:00-4:00 p.m. PST 
 

I. Attendance.  Participating in all or part of the meeting in person or by telephone (T) were the following individuals:

II.  
Directors 
John Sobeck, MD, MBA, Chair, Cigna (T) 
John Dunn, MD, MPH, Kaiser Permanente 
Cathy Falanga, Aetna 
Jason Farber, Esq., Davis Wright Tremaine (T) 
Beth Harvey, MD, South Sound Pediatric 
  Associates 
Derek LeBrun, MBA, Coordinated Care 
Ed Marcuse, MD, Emeritus Professor of 
  Pediatrics, University of Washington 
Laura McKenna, CPhT, Regence (T) 
Chad Murphy, PharmD, Premera 
Randy Parker, Carpenters Trusts of Western 
  Washington (T) 
Michele Roberts, MPH, MCHES, 
  Washington Department of Health 
 
WVA 
Julia G. Zell, MA, Esq., Executive Director

 
KidsVax® 
Fred Potter, MBA, Esq., Managing Member 
Norman Roberge, Accountant (T) 
Claire Roberge, MBA, Controller (T) 
Peter Smith, MBA, Financial Analyst (T) 
Terry Mills, Executive Assistant (T) 
 
Others 
SheAnne Allen, MPH, MCHES, 
  Washington Department of Health 
Anne Redman, Esq., Perkins Coie 
Polly Sidwell, CIMA, CFP, Morgan Stanley 
David Keller, CPM, CFP, CIMA, Morgan 
  Stanley 
Breelyn Young, GlaxoSmithKline 
Julie Bertuleit, GlaxoSmithKline 

III. Summary of Actions Taken and/or Recommended 
A. Actions Taken (votes adopted) 

1. To approve the minutes of the June 28, 2018 Board Meeting. 
2. To approve the minutes of the September 18, 2018 Finance Committee Meeting. 
3. To approve WVA Officers as additional signatories on WVA Morgan Stanley accounts. 
4. To adopt the recommended alternate settlement report plan with the changes suggested at the 

meeting. 
5. To authorize the formation of a workgroup to engage KidsVax® (KV) in a 12-month special project 

to perform requested work to develop and implement an alternative settlement report process, with a 
monthly cap not to exceed $5,000. 

6. To authorize the Executive Director (ED) to renew, approve, and authorize all routine WVA financial 
transactions including but not limited to refund checks, imprest account transactions, board-
authorized contractor invoices, and insurance premiums. 

7. To authorize the ED to renew and keep current all WVA insurance policies in consultation with 
general counsel. 

8. To ratify the action of the Finance Committee in authorizing publication of the 2017/2018 Financial 
Statements and independent auditor’s report. 

9. To authorize KidsVax® to proceed with publication of the 2017/2018 WVA Annual Report with the 
changes suggested directly following the meeting. 

10. To have the Board authorize the approval of the annual operations budget at the Executive Committee 
level to conform the ED and administrator agreements. 

11. To affirm the slate of officers for the WVA Board of Directors, the WVA Committee chairs, and the 
renewal terms of the WVA Board members as presented at the meeting. 

12. To authorize payment of the Chair’s travel-related expenses incurred to travel to Washington D.C. 
with Julia Zell for TRICARE work. 

13. To authorize payment of the fee of $50,000 due to Ellis, Li, and McKinstry (ELM) following receipt 
of the settlement amount from DHA accepted by the Board in this meeting. 

14. To re-elect Ms. Zell to the position of the Executive Director of the WVA. 
15. To authorize the Chair in consultation with the Executive Committee to complete negotiation of the 

Employment Agreement for Ms. Zell as Executive Director of the Association on the terms 
described at this meeting, and for the Chair to execute the same on behalf of the Association. 

16. To cause an amendment to the Amended and Restated Plan of Operation to be prepared under the 
direction of the Chair in consultation with the Executive Committee to permit employment of an 
Executive Director, and other persons as may be approved by the Board; to submit such 
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amendment to the Secretary of the Department of Health for approval and execution; and to 
execute the amendment approved by the Secretary of the Department of Health. 

17. To authorize the Chair in consultation with the Executive Committee to complete negotiation of an 
Administrative Services Agreement for KV on the terms described at this meeting and to execute 
the same on behalf of the Association. 

18. To authorize the Association to enter into an agreement with ELM for the occasional use of their 
offices in Seattle for board and committee meetings and use by the Executive Director and KV staff 
who may be in Seattle on WVA work and to provide a mailing address for WVA for the amount of 
$5,000 per year. 
 

B. Follow up Tasks/Action Items 
1. Ms. Zell will discuss the special project concerning an alternate Settlement Report Process (SRP) 

with Mr. Roberge and an alternative plan will be brought back to the Board for review and feedback 
at the April 2019 meeting. 

2. Ms. Zell will contact TRICARE general counsel’s office with respect to being mentioned in the WVA 
letter on page one of the Annual Report. 

3. Ms. Zell will ensure the Conflict of Interest and Code of Ethics Forms are sent to Board Members, 
Committee Members, and contractors. 

4. Ms. Zell will have official thank yous and a resolution prepared and sent to Senator Murray’s office, 
Senator Cantwell’s office, and the WA representatives. 

 
IV. Minutes 

Welcome and Introductions 
At 2:00 p.m., a quorum having been established, Vice-Chair Beth Harvey, MD, stepped in for Chairman John Sobeck for 
the beginning of the meeting.  Dr. Harvey called the meeting to order.  Introductions were made, and Ms. Zell announced 
that the meeting was being recorded for the benefit of the minute-taker and would be deleted following final approval of 
the minutes. 
 
Consent Calendar Items 
Vice-Chairman Harvey directed the Board’s attention to the consent items submitted for approval, including the Board 
meeting minutes of June 28, 2018 and the Finance Committee meeting minutes of September 18, 2018.  There being no 
questions or comments, the following items were put to a vote: 
 
Upon motion duly made and seconded, it was unanimously 
 
 VOTED: To approve the minutes of the June 28, 2018 Board Meeting. 
  To approve the minutes of the September 18, 2018 Finance Committee Meeting. 
 
Financial Report 
KV financial analyst, Peter Smith, began the financial update by reviewing the Statement of Financial Position as of 
September 30, 2018.  There is currently $12.6MM in cash in the bank, which is an updated number.  Additionally, there 
is $25MM, plus interest, accruing in the Morgan Stanley (MS) operational reserve investment accounts.  The Statement 
of Activities shows the changes in net assets and provides more detail of the Association’s expenses.  Mr. Smith referred 
to notes on page 13 of the audited financials to explain the $25MM that was transferred to the Morgan Stanley investment 
account and the $20,000 received from New Hampshire Vaccine Association to aid in TRICARE expenses.  The 13-
month cash flow was presented in a simplified format.  It shows where the cash balances are tracking on assessments 
collected and payments to the Department of Health (DOH).  Mr. Smith briefly outlined the cash flow projection model 
which is updated monthly. Mr. Smith reminded the Board that the model is used to project WVA collections and balance 
those against funds transfers to the DOH for vaccine purchases. Additionally, the model also helps measure where the 
WVA is in relation to its reserve requirements. With this information, Mr. Smith explained he is able to analyze how 
changes in the assessment grid would affect the cash balance. 
 
Ms. Zell noted that following the Finance Committee’s September meeting, she was asked to make a recommendation to 
the Board regarding a possible off-schedule grid change to lower WVA’s operating capital. Mr. Smith prepared the 
cashflow model providing three scenarios.  Ms. Zell briefly reviewed them for the Board as follows:  1) Having no change 
and waiting until next year; 2) Having an off-cycle grid change January 1, 2019 at 1%, and 3) Reducing the grid further 
January 1, 2019 by 2%.  Page 18 of the Board packet shows the three options suggested by Mr. Smith depending on the 
direction the Board wants to go with possibly reducing the overall cash balance.  Mr. Smith suggested not making off-
schedule changes because waiting until April 1st when the CDC posts new pediatric rates helps to lock in the cash flow 
model and it takes 60 to 90 days to implement a grid change. Any large changes in the grid on the short-term lead to 
unpredictable collections models.  Ms. Zell concurred, noting that the Operations Committee also expressed a desire that 
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the grid changes remain as minimal as possible at the scheduled July 1 date. After a brief discussion, it was the sense of 
the Board that there should not be an off-cycle grid change.  
 
Ms. Zell requested Mr. Smith stay on the call for Ms. Polly Sidwell’s investment update. 
 
Investment Update 
Ms. Sidwell of Morgan Stanley provided a summary about the marketplace, the overall WVA portfolio strategy, short 
term bond rates, how the funds are being invested.  In September, the WVA transferred $25MM to Morgan Stanley, 
which built a portfolio.  Ms. Sidwell explained that the WVA could expect around a 3.5% return.  David Keller, also 
from Morgan Stanley stated the portfolio is built and set to generate slightly over $700,000 in terms of annual interest.  
Mr. Keller and Ms. Stanley went over in detail how the WVA’s reserves conformed to the approved Investment Policy. 
After some questions and discussion, Ms. Zell thanked the pair and dismissed them from the meeting. 
 
Additional Signatories 
Ms. Zell requested the Board approve the WVA officers as additional signatories on the Morgan Stanley accounts to be 
certain there are enough signatories so that whoever becomes elected in the officer slate would also be added to those 
accounts.  It was also requested that the Finance Committee be added to the authorization.  Ms. Zell reported that Mr. 
Farber has requested that he not be added as a signatory. Mr. LeBrun and Dr. Sobeck would be approved along with Dr. 
Harvey and Dr. Marcuse who could be added as well in the event they are needed. 
 
Upon motion duly made and seconded, it was unanimously 
 
 VOTED: To approve WVA Officers as additional signatories on WVA Morgan Stanley accounts. 
 
ED Updates 
Ms. Zell stated that a few years ago, the association struggled with payer and provider non-compliance and cash issues 
but is now in a great position as many of those issues have been resolved.  WVA had a clean audit, as in prior years.  The 
Annual Report is included in the packet for review.  There is a new communications piece initiated by Dr. Marcuse, 
which is the cover letter included in the materials behind the Report.  This piece gives more information about what is 
going on in the organization.  Ms. Zell welcomed feedback from Board members. 
 
Next, Ms. Zell went over the existing settlement report process (SRP) as well as the proposed alternative.  The SRP was 
created during the WVA set-up and has been maintained by the major insurance carriers. They agreed to auto-generate a 
payment to the WVA at the correct assessment rate if a provider only submitted a vaccine administration claim. The 
current system of having some payers submit assessments through the SRP, but not others creates an assessment inequity.  
One suggested alternative is to have payers that either cannot or will not participate in the SRP pay a flat, annual 
assessment that equals the average of assessments collected by the payers that continue to submit the settlement reports.  
An exemption should be made for payers that remit less than $10,000 annually in assessments to the WVA.  WVA could 
send notification of the additional assessment with the annual, statutory assessment letters that are sent out in November.  
KV would handle collections and compliance work.   
 
There are payers that complete the SRP voluntarily, but there are also payers that want to do it but need to have a policy 
in place.  Ms. Zell suggested the Board authorize a workgroup to develop an alternate way to resolve the assessment 
inequity concerns over the next year.  This would provide the time necessary to ensure that the system works and would 
be cleared with the state, and then come back to the Board with a recommendation.  Further discussion ensued.  Ms. Zell 
committed to developing a policy and implementation plan for the Board’s review and approval at the April Board 
meeting.  If KV is asked to do this work, it would be a special project.  Further discussion ensued. 
 
Upon motion duly made and seconded, it was unanimously 
 
 VOTED: To adopt the recommended alternate settlement report plan with the changes suggested at the 

meeting. 
 
 VOTED:  To authorize the formation of a workgroup and to engage KidsVax® in a twelve-month special 

project to perform requested work to implement an alternative Settlement Report Process, with 
a monthly cap not to exceed $5,000. 

 
Ms. Zell then gave an update on the payer special compliance project. She stated that the provider special project was 
started approximately two years ago when a KV study revealed that providers and payers were using outdated grids. The 
WVA has been working with the DOH and KV to make sure providers are using the correct grid.  The DOH sent out a 
survey to providers to gather information regarding their submissions to payers. Mr. Roberge is working with both payers 
and providers to sort through the inconsistencies that have been noted and to make corrections as needed. 
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After an annual review of WVA financial procedures and taking into consideration comments from various Board 
members, Ms. Zell suggested a change in routine transaction approval procedures.  After speaking with the auditors and 
Attorney Redman about this, Ms. Zell asked the Board to authorize her to approve routine WVA transactions.  Further 
discussion ensued. 
 
Upon motion duly made and seconded, it was unanimously 
 
 VOTED: To authorize the ED to renew, approve, and authorize all routine WVA financial transactions 

including but not limited to refund checks, imprest account transactions, board-authorized 
contractor invoices, and insurance premiums. 

 
Ms. Zell also requested the Board authorize her to renew and keep current the various WVA insurance policies if there 
is no material change in coverage.  The premiums are paid through the WVA accounts. This will ensure that these policies 
do not lapse due to items waiting for an appropriate signatory. 
 
Upon motion duly made and seconded, it was unanimously 
 
 VOTED: To authorize the ED to renew and keep current all WVA insurance policies in consultation with 

general counsel. 
 
Finance Committee Update 
Mr. LeBrun opened the discussion and gave a brief review of recent events. He reported that the recommendation from 
the Finance Committee is to approve the annual Audited Financial Statements and auditor’s report and publish them.  
Ms. Zell supported Mr. Lebrun’s comment and requested that the Board authorize publication of the Audited Financials 
and the cost savings memo, as has been done annually in the past. 
 
Upon motion duly made and seconded, it was unanimously 
 
 VOTED: To ratify the action of the Audit Committee in authorizing publication of the 2017/2018 

Financial Statements and independent auditor’s report. 
 
Ms. Zell provided a brief overview of the 2017/2018 Annual Report, and she expressed how proud the WVA is to be a 
strategic partner of the DOH.  The Department has received many awards this year, but notably the Office of 
Immunization and Child was recognized at the National Immunization Conference for its outstanding progress toward 
Healthy People 2020 targets for adolescent immunization coverage.  The Department was also awarded a Bull’s-Eye 
Award at the Association of Immunization Managers’ Conference for their strategies in outreach and the different ways 
they are using communication mediums to impact immunization rates. After Ms. Zell summarized the content of the 
Annual Report, she deferred to Ms. Allen to introduce the content on the back page. Ms. Allen then summarized the 
graphic that captures vaccination rates for certain key childhood immunizations given at 19 to 35 months. Further 
discussion ensued.  Dr. Marcuse and Ms. Roberts stated they would provide a few non-substantive suggestions to Ms. 
Zell at the end of the meeting.  Further discussion ensued.  Ms. Zell agreed to contact TRICARE’s general counsel with 
respect to being mentioned in the WVA letter on page one of the Annual Report. 
 
Upon motion duly made and seconded, it was unanimously  
 
 VOTED: To authorize KidsVax® to proceed with publication of the 2017/2018 WVA Annual Report with 

the changes suggested directly following the meeting. 
 
Ms. Zell provided a summary of the annual operations budget.  The budget is usually adopted by the June meeting, but 
due to the recent restructuring, the Board decided to postpone this work until the ED and administrative contracts were 
finalized.  Mr. Potter provided a brief overview of the budget. Following discussion, the Board agreed to allow the 
Executive Committee to finalize the budget. 
 
Upon motion duly made and seconded, it was unanimously 
 
 VOTED: To authorize the approval of the annual operations budget at the Executive Committee level to 

conform the new ED and administrator agreements. 
 
Department of Health Updates 
Ms. Roberts introduced the idea of changing the administration charge that the DOH currently places on WVA funds 
transfers.  A lot of the work that DOH performs on behalf of the WVA program is not covered by the charge. Some of 
the work involves making sure DOH is safeguarding the investment WVA has in vaccines, providing support to the 



 
 

WVA Board Meeting – November 8, 2018  Page 5 of 6 
Minutes Approved – April 25, 2019 
 

provider community, and following through on reducing vaccine waste.  Ms. Roberts stated that many of the universal 
states charge anywhere from a 3-15% on the money they receive from vaccine assessments, and right now DOH has only 
a 1.2% indirect pass-through rate.  The DOH will be revisiting this issue in the future. 
 
Ms. Allen updated the Board on the work DOH is undertaking to reduce vaccine waste.  A workgroup was developed 
last year that consists of members of the Board, local health jurisdictions, DOH, and tribal representatives.  The 
workgroup is very close to having a final policy on best provider practices on vaccine storage and handling that focuses 
on education and training, empowering the providers and getting them to understand why certain safety precautions are 
necessary, and help them to avoid excursions and improve wastage rates.  The policy is currently being reviewed by the 
workgroup with final edits due November 9.  The policy will be shared with the Vaccine Advisory Committee and the 
Board and hopefully will be communicated beginning in early 2019.  Depending on what the workgroup decides, it will 
most likely go into effect three to six months later.   
 
Dr. Marcuse commented that vaccine wastage was discussed at length at the recent Vaccine Committee meeting.  There 
is often great variation in vaccine storage practices, but this policy will provide an opportunity to save vaccines through 
an enhanced program.  Dr. Marcuse is hopeful that the limited resources available to the Department can be enhanced to 
reduce waste.  Dr. Harvey stated that the policy includes all the right educational points and helps support people in 
getting better provider transparency.  Extensive discussion ensued. 
 
Vaccine Committee Update 
Dr. Marcuse reported that the Vaccine Committee reviewed public health initiatives, including the provider survey, which 
indicated the vast proportion of providers are very satisfied or satisfied with the DOH’s processes and support.  This year 
the flu vaccine, which has been a perpetual problem in the past, was available in mid-August.  For the first time, the DOH 
has included in the ordering list the MenB vaccine and it is likely there will be an increased uptake of MenB for several 
reasons. 
 
Board Development 
Ms. Zell reported that the officer slate is the same as last year, consisting of Dr. Marcuse as Secretary, Dr. Harvey as 
Vice-Chair, Dr. Sobeck as Chair, and Mr. LeBrun as Treasurer. Emails regarding nominations were sent to each Board 
member prior to the meeting.  She also asked that the Board affirmation of the continuation of Dr. Marcuse, Mr. Murphy, 
and Ms. Falanga as Board members.  Affirmation is also needed to appoint/reappoint committee chairs; currently, Dr. 
Marcuse chairs the Vaccine Committee, Ms. Zell chairs the Operations Committee, and Mr. LeBrun will now chair the 
Finance Committee as their positions were uncontested.  Ms. Zell suggested approving this slate of officers unless 
someone has other recommendations. 
 
Upon motion duly made and seconded, it was unanimously 
 
 VOTED: To affirm the slate of officers for the WVA Board of Directors and WVA Committees as 

presented at the meeting. 
 
 VOTED: To affirm the re-appointment of Dr. Marcuse, Mr. Murphy, and Ms. Falanga as Board members.  

Ms. Zell will be emailing the Conflict of Interest and Code of Ethics Forms to the Board 
members.  Ms. Zell requested that these forms be scanned and mailed or emailed back to her 
upon completion. 

 
Executive Session 
 
Executive Session with counsel Anne Redman present, the board acted upon several items of business.  Ms. Zell and Mr. 
Potter were present for the agenda items “TRICARE Settlement; Chair Travel Expenses; Ellis Li Fee.” 
 
TRICARE Settlement; Chair Travel Expenses; Ellis Li Fee. 
Ms. Zell described the proposed settlement offer received that morning from Defense Health Agency (DHA) on the 
arrearage for the period May 2010 through December 22, 2010 in the amount of $935, 261.  The offer had been reviewed 
by Ms. Zell with analytic support from KidsVax.  After discussion and upon motion duly made and seconded, it was 
unanimously voted: 

 
 VOTED: To accept DHA’s November 8, 2018 settlement offer in the amount of $935,261 for the period 

May 2010 through December 22, 2010 for assessments owed to WVA and to authorize 
execution of the TRICARE Payment Acceptance Form by either the Chairman or Vice 
Chairwoman.  
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The Board members thanked Dr. Sobeck for taking the time to travel to Washington D.C. with Ms. Zell for meetings 
with DHA and congressional staffers. 
 
Upon motion duly made and seconded, it was unanimously 
 
 VOTED: To authorize payment of the Chair’s travel-related expenses incurred to travel to Washington 

D.C. for TRICARE work. 
 
Upon payment of the authorized settlement amount, Mr. Potter noted that the agreed fee of $50.000 would be due 
pursuant to the contingent fee agreement between WVA and ELM. 
 
Upon motion duly made and seconded, it was unanimously 
 
 VOTED: To authorize payment of the fee of $50,000 due to ELM following receipt of the settlement 

amount from DHA accepted by the Board in this meeting. 
 
Retention of Executive Director; KidsVax Administrative Services Agreement 
The Chair summarized the work of the Executive Committee and himself since the Board’s approval at its June 2018 
meeting to engage its current executive director by contract directly and renegotiating terms for continuing to purchase 
less comprehensive services from KidsVax.  A transition summary was included in the meeting materials.  The Chair 
reported that Ms. Zell had been retained as executive director under an interim arrangement beginning September 1, 
2018.  KidsVax compensation was reduced effective October 1, 2018 to reflect the cessation of executive director 
services and notice of termination of the KidsVax contract was also given in view of the contingency of negotiations.  
It was noted that the Plan of Operation would need to be amended to clarify that WVA can have employees. 
 
The Chair asked counsel to summarize the terms of proposed agreements for Ms. Zell and KidsVax.  Counsel distributed 
a written summary of a proposed employment agreement for Ms. Zell as Executive Director and an accompanying 
agreement with Avitus, a professional employment organization (PEO) to provide payroll, tax filings and other services, 
and a revised administrative services agreement for KidsVax.  The board discussed proposed terms and asked questions.  
 
Upon motions duly made and seconded, it was 
 
 VOTED: To re-elect Ms. Zell as the Executive Director of the WVA. 
 
 VOTED: To authorize the Chair in consultation with the Executive Committee to complete negotiation 

of the Employment Agreement for Ms. Zell as Executive Director of the Association on the 
terms described at this meeting, and for the Chair to execute the same on behalf of the 
Association. 

 
 VOTED: To cause an amendment to the Amended and Restated Plan of Operation to be prepared under 

the direction of the Chair in consultation with the Executive Committee to permit employment 
of an Executive Director, and other persons as may be approved by the Board; to submit such 
amendment to the Secretary of the Department of Health for approval and execution; and to 
execute the amendment approved by the Secretary of the Department of Health. 

 
 VOTED: To authorize the Chair in consultation with the Executive Committee to complete negotiation 

of an Administrative Services Agreement for KidsVax LLC on the terms described at this 
meeting and to execute the same on behalf of the Association. 

 
 VOTED: To authorize the Association to enter into an agreement with Ellis Li for the occasional use of 

their offices in Seattle for board and committee meetings and use by the Executive Director and 
KidsVax staff who may be in Seattle on WVA work and to provide a mailing address for WVA 
for the amount of $5,000 per year. 
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What:   Board of Directors Meeting 
Date & Time:   Thursday, November 8, 2018; 2:00-4:00 p.m. (PST) 
Location:  Ellis, Li & McKinstry, Alki Conference Room, 2025 First Ave., PH-A, Seattle, WA 98121 
Conference Line: (267) 930-4000; Conference ID: 103063718# 
 

Notice: The meeting may be recorded for the benefit of the minute-taker. The WVA intends to delete the recording 
after the minutes are approved. 

Agenda for Board of Directors Meeting 
Approx. Time Pg. Topic/Anticipated Action Presented by: 
2:00-2:05 p.m.  1. Welcome & Introductions 

a. Notification of Recording 
 

J. Sobeck 

2:05-2:10 p.m.  
3* 
7* 

2. Consent Calendar Items 
a. Board Meeting Minutes (June 28, 2018) 
b. Audit Committee Meeting Minutes (September 18, 2018) 

 
3. Financial Update 

J. Sobeck 

2:10-2:25 p.m. 10* 
 
 
 

18* 

a. Financial Reports – as of September 30, 2018 
b. Investment Update 
c. Additional Signatories 

i. Vote to Authorize additional MS signatories  
d. Assessment Grid Recommendation 

 

P. Smith/ 
P. Sidwell 

 
 

J. Zell 

2:25-2:35 p.m.  
19* 

 
22* 

 
 
 

4. ED Updates 
a. ED Report 
b. Special Projects Report 
c. Settlement Report Proposal 

i. Vote to Adopt SRP Plan and Authorize KV Work 
d. Change to ED Approval of Routine WVA Transactions 

i. Vote to Authorize ED to Keep Current Insurance Policies 
ii. Vote to Authorize ED Approval of Routine Transactions 

 

 
J. Zell 

N. Roberge 
 
 

2:35-2:45 p.m.  
24* 

 
 

36* 
 

40* 
 

5. Finance Committee Update 
a. Audit Report  

i. Vote to Ratify Publication of 17/18 Audited Financials & 
Report 

b. Annual Report and Annual Summary 
i. Vote to Authorize Publication of 17/18 Annual Report 

c. Operations Budget Review 
i. Vote to Approve Operations Budget 

 

 
J. Sobeck/N. Roberge 

 
 

J. Zell 
 

F. Potter 
 

2:45-2:55 p.m.  6. Department of Health Updates 
a. Administration Fee 
b. Best Practices in Storage and Handling 
 

M. Roberts/S. Allen 
 

2:55-3:10 p.m.  
 

7. Vaccine Committee Update 
a. Status Report 

 

 
E. Marcuse 

3:15-3:25 p.m.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

8. Board Development 
a. Annual Officer/Committee Chair Election & Reappointment  

i. Votes to Elect Chairman, Vice-Chair, Secretary, & 
Treasurer 

ii. Vote to Confirm Board Member Terms 
iii. Vote to Appoint/Re-appoint Committee Chairs 

b. Conflict of Interest and Code of Ethics Forms 
 

 
J. Zell 
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3:25-3:55 p.m. 

 
 
 
 
 

41* 

 
9. Executive Session (Board Members and GC only) 

a. TRICARE Discussion 
i. Vote to Authorize Dr. Sobeck’s TRICARE-related 

Expenses 
b. ED/Administrative Contracts 

i. Vote to Authorize Chair to Execute ED Contract 
ii. Vote to Authorize Chair to Execute KV Contract 

iii. Vote to Engage Outside Counsel for Necessary Bylaws 
and Operational Changes Work 

iv. Vote to Authorize Engagement with ELM 
 

 
J. Zell 

 
 
 

A. Redman 
  

3:55-4:00 p.m.  10. Closing 
 

J. Sobeck 

  
 

 Reference Documents 
a. Contact List 
b. Governing Statute 
c. Proposed Form of Votes 
d. Directions to Ellis, Li & McKinstry 
e. 2019 Meeting Calendar 
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Washington Vaccine Association 1 
Board of Directors’ Meeting 2 

June 28, 2018; 2:00 p.m. - 4:30 p.m. PDT 3 
4 

I. Attendance. Participating in all or part of the meeting in person or by telephone (T) were the following5 
6 individuals:

Directors 
John Sobeck, MD, MBA, Cigna - Chair (T) 
Beth Harvey, MD, S. Sound Ped. Assoc. 
Vice Chair 
John Dunn, MD, Kaiser Permanente 
Chad Murphy, PharmD, Premera 
Edgar Marcuse, MD 
Randy Parker, Carpenters Trust of Western WA 
Laura McKenna, Regence (T) 
Michele Roberts, MPH, MCHES,  
Department of Health 

Absent 
Catherine Falanga, Aetna 
Derek LeBrun, MBA, Coordinated Care 

KidsVax® 

Fred Potter, Managing Member  
Julia Zell, Executive Director 
Peter Smith, Financial Analyst (T) 
Norman Roberge, Accountant (T) 
Claire Roberge, Controller (T) 
Heather Veen, Sr. Executive Assistant (T) 
Charlene Stryker, Executive Assistant (T) 

Others 
SheAnne Allen, MPH, MCHES, 
  Department of Health 
Anne Redman, Esq., Perkins Coie 

II. Summary of Actions Taken and/or Recommended7 

A. Actions Taken (votes adopted)8 
1. Approved:9 

a. Special Purpose Meeting Minutes held on February 16, 2018.10 
b. Board Meeting Minutes held on April 5, 2018.11 
c. Vaccine Committee Meeting held on April 5, 2018.12 
d. Vaccine/Operating Committee Meeting Minutes held on May 3, 2018.13 
e. Audit Committee Meeting Minutes held on May 30, 2018.14 

2. With respect the TRICARE collection project:15 
a. Approve the TRICARE Settlement for the period of Oct. 1, 2017 through March 31, 2018.16 
b. Authorize the Chair or Vice-Chair to sign the Payment Acceptance Form on WVA’s behalf.17 
c. Authorize one-time catch-up Payment to KV for amounts owed through June 2018.18 

3. Authorize Dr. John Sobeck or Dr. Beth Harvey to execute the United Healthcare settlement on behalf of19 
WVA.20 

4. Accept the proposed 2018/2019 KV Performance Goals.21 
5. Adopt the WVA Communications Plan as presented by Executive Director.22 
6. Potential administrative / ED Contract restructuring:23 
7. (Board Only) Score KidsVax for the 2017/2018 operating year holdback award resulting in an authorized24 

payment.25 
8. Authorize the Executive Committee to finalize the 2018/2019 WVA Operations Budget pending finalization of26 

the KV and ED Services Contracts.27 
9. Approve the changes to the Audit Committee Charter as presented at the meeting.28 
10. Adopt the Capital Reserve and Investment Policy.29 
11. Approve WVA 2018/2019 Strategic Goals as presented by J. Zell.30 

31 
B. Follow Up Tasks/Action Items32 

1. Ms. Zell to work on improving partner relationships and re-visit this topic, affording updates to the Board at33 
its November meeting.34 

2. Ms. Zell to work on a 2018/2019 WVA Communications strategy, with the Board member’s input, during the35 
summer and come back with a further recommendation at the November meeting.36 

3. Chairman Sobeck to work with Mr. Potter to follow up on TRICARE project reimbursement requests to other37 
KidsVax managed-states.38 

4. Ms. Zell to develop an alternative settlement report proposal for recommendation to the Board by November.39 
5. Ms. Zell to supplement WVA’s Annual Report with an executive summary to distribute to WA government40 

officials and stakeholders on an annual basis.41 
42 

III. Minutes 43 
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 1 
Welcome and Introductions 2 
At 2:00 p.m., a quorum having been established, Chairman Sobeck called the meeting to order.  Introductions were made.  Mr. 3 
Fred Potter announced that the meeting was being recorded for the benefit of the minute-taker and that KidsVax (KV) anticipates 4 
deleting the recording following the final approval of the minutes. 5 

 6 
Consent Calendar Items 7 
Chairman Sobeck asked if there were any objections to approving all of the minutes that had been distributed in the pre-meeting 8 
packet.  There being no questions or comments 9 
 10 

Upon motions duly made and seconded, it was unanimously 11 
 12 
 VOTED:  To approve the minutes of the Special Purpose Meeting of February 16, 2018 as presented. 13 
 VOTED:  To approve the minutes of the Board Meeting of April 5, 2018 as presented. 14 
 VOTED:  To approve the minutes of the Vaccine Committee Meeting of April 5, 2018 as presented. 15 
 VOTED:  To approve the minutes of the Vaccine/Operations Meeting of May 3, 2018 as presented. 16 
 VOTED:  To approve the minutes of the Audit Committee Meeting of May 30, 2018 as presented. 17 
 18 
KidsVax Updates 19 
 20 
Executive Director (ED) Report: 21 
Ms. Zell gave a brief overview of her executive report which was included in the Board packet.  Ms. Zell stated that WVA has over 22 
$33 million in the bank.  Ms. Zell reflected on the last 3- ½ years and was happy to say that the WVA is in a great position as an 23 
organization. Ms. Zell went on to inform the Board they will be asked to approve a United Healthcare arrearage settlement. This 24 
work was part of the payer compliance project that started two years ago when Mr. Roberge discovered United Healthcare was 25 
applying downwards adjusting all assessments by a 2013 grid.  Due to time restraints, she highlighted salient point, and then 26 
suggested that the Board consider other topics. 27 
 28 
TRICARE Settlement:   29 
Ms. Zell reported that WVA did get the statutory authorization fix drafted by KV into the U.S. Senate’s version of NDAA FY19, 30 
but no similar provision was included in the House version.  She noted that the congressional effort is viewed as necessary to 31 
guarantee that TRICARE pays at the correct grid level.  Ms. Zell then further advised the Board concerning KV’s anticipated follow 32 
up steps.  Ms. Roberts asked if TRICARE is now paying 100% of assessments? Ms. Zell confirmed they purport they are, but KV 33 
is working on getting credentials to verify.   34 
 35 
Mr. Potter informed the Board that as of April 1st the WVA has begun receiving assessments from TRICARE at 101.8 percent of 36 
WVA’s standard assessment grid rates to account for their failure to produce settlement reports.  He went on to commend Ms. Zell 37 
for her leadership in managing the TRICARE project.   38 
 39 
Future TRICARE Settlement offer to WVA    Ms. Zell reported that from the period of May 2010 through Dec. 22, 2010, TRICARE 40 
owes the WVA approximately $1.0 - $2.1 million, exclusive of interest and penalties. Ms. Zell went on to report that KV has 41 
developed a legal argument concerning TRICARE’s position based on the statute of limitations.  That argument was accepted by 42 
DHA for New Hampshire.  TRICARE has resisted payment for vaccine administered more than 6-years prior to December 23, 43 
2016, (when the first statute resulting from this work was signed into law).   The core of KV’s argument is that vaccines 44 
administered on December 23 and after were funded prior to that date, thus should be covered.  Based on delays inherent in WVA’s 45 
assessment methodology, WVA has a reasonable argument that even under TRICARE’s legal theory, it should pay 100% of WVA’s 46 
assessments from inception. 47 
 48 
Mr. Potter stated KV chose New Hampshire as the first state to advance this argument because of the clarity of this issue for that 49 
state.  New Hampshire was the only other state with assessments over 6-years past due.  Ms. Zell that explained that WVA dosage- 50 
based assessments are for replenishment of vaccine administered. Ms. Zell went on to observe that since a precedent has been 51 
established in the New Hampshire offer from TRICARE, WVA should be able to piggyback on that concession in principle.   Ms. 52 
Zell explained that the New Hampshire memo can be revised for WVA’s unique dosage-based system.   53 
 54 
Ms. Redman inquired as to how many months prior to the statutory cut-off date were recovered by New Hampshire?   Mr. Potter 55 
responded that NHVA went back for the quarterly funding before TRICARE’S asserted December 23, 2010 cutoff.  Due to state 56 
statutory issues, that was all that could be argued for New Hampshire.   Mr. Potter advised that WVA has more gain potential in 57 
this legal argument given its unique system.  Ms. Zell then gave further background on this strategic approach and how it might 58 
affect any suit to collect the remaining balance from TRIWEST.  Chairman Sobeck commented he believes it is reasonable for the 59 
Board to look at the total cost, including human capital, in evaluating the merits of any strategy.  He concurred with Ms. Zell in 60 
exploring the statute of limitations argument. 61 
 62 
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Chairman Sobeck asked if there were any objections to approving the second TRICARE settlement offer presented for all remaining 1 
amounts other than those affected by TRICARE’s statute of limitations position from the period of October 1, 2017 through 2 
December 31, 2018.  There being no further questions or comments:  3 
 4 

Upon duly made and seconded, it was unanimously  5 
 6 

VOTED:    To approve the TRICARE Settlement for the period of October 1, 2017 through March 31, 2018 and 7 
to authorize the Chair or Vice Chair to sign the Payment Acceptance Form on WVA’s behalf. 8 

 9 
Mr. Potter and Ms. Zell requested the Board approve a catch-up payment for all KV services and expenses to date regarding the 10 
TRICARE project.  Ms. Zell estimated that the total outstanding amount approximated $70,000.  Chairman Sobeck asked if there 11 
were any objections to approving KV’s request for catch-up payments for work on the TRICARE project.  There being no questions 12 
or comments: 13 
 14 

Upon motion duly made and seconded, it was unanimously 15 
 16 

VOTED:   To authorize a one-time catch up payment to KV for all amounts owed by TRICARE through June 17 
2018. 18 

 19 
Mr. Potter suggested to the Board that as states such as Maine, Vermont, and Alaska receive cash or settlement proposals, it would 20 
be a good time to renew WVA’s request for equitable contributions to the expenses which generated those TRICARE offers.  Dr. 21 
Marcuse inquired how such amounts would be calculated.  Mr. Potter responded stating the suggestion is to take the respective 22 
amounts TRICARE has offered or paid to each state and request project-expense sharing in the same proportion.  He offered a draft 23 
sheet of allocations for review by directors in attendance through June 30, 2018.   24 
 25 
Chairman Sobeck stated that he and Mr. Potter had discussed this matter earlier in the week.  Taking the whole amount and dividing 26 
exactly to the dollar with exactly the percent that has been offered to each state might be taken as an unreasonable request as it 27 
would be voluntary contributions at best.  Chairman Sobeck offered the thought that something smaller than the exact allocated 28 
cost might be received better. It was the sense of the Board that Chairman Sobeck should proceed as he thinks best.  Dr. Sobeck 29 
will make requests from other SVPs receiving TRICARE offers as a result of WVA funded work.    30 
 31 
Mr. Potter went on to inform the Board that NHVA had authorized a $20,000 a month contribution to off-set WVA TRICARE 32 
expenses through December 30, 2018.  The NHVA Chairwoman already has signed three of the checks, totaling $60,000, for July 33 
1, August 1 and September 1, which will be deposited into a WVA account.   34 
 35 
Ms. Zell then provided an update and summary on the UnitedHealthcare arrearage settlement offer.  She stated that United 36 
Healthcare had been denying all dosage-based assessments without NDC coding accumulating a total denied amount of about 37 
$500,000 dollars.  That matter was resolved administratively.  Ms. Zell advised further of a second issue whereby United was 38 
repricing assessments to a 2013 grid, which is about 19% lower than then current grid.  After negotiation United calculated the 39 
amount owed from the repricing.  It is the recommendation of KV the Board accept the settlement offer of $316,00. 40 
 41 
Chairman Sobeck asked if there were any objections to approving the item listed above.  There being no questions or comments: 42 

 43 
Upon motion duly made and seconded, it was unanimously 44 
 45 
VOTED:   To authorize Dr. Sobeck, Chair or Dr. Harvey, Vice-Chair to execute and agree to the 46 

UnitedHealthcare settlement agreement. 47 
 48 

KidsVax®’s Proposed 2018/19 Performance Goals: 49 
Ms.  Zell reviewed KV’s proposed 2018/2019 goals.  After briefly reviewing the core metrics she suggested KV develop an 50 
alternative settlement report proposal. Ms.  Zell will have a plan of recommendation to the Board by November.  Ms. Zell reviewed 51 
the settlement payment process and would like to promote greater payer fairness to ensure all payers are assessed equally.  Ms. Zell 52 
suggested to the Board to consider the added 1.8% approach TRICARE has accepted.  Ms. Zell continued to express she would 53 
like to Maintain Core Services Metrics by responsiveness. Ms. Zell put forward that all telephone inquiries be answered within 1-54 
2 days and emails answered no longer than 5-business days.  Ms. Zell added that monthly financials would be required to be 55 
completed within 15-business days, annual financials within 40-business days and quarterly financials within 25 business days.  56 
Ms. Zell proposed 100 percent of State funding be in place on or before the due date and annual regulatory reports received on or 57 
before the due date.  Ms. Zell recommended developing a 3-5year WVA Strategic Plan; whereas a strategic planning meeting 58 
would be facilitated to compile and publish the WVA Strategic Goals.  Additionally, she would like to Improve on WVA 59 
Communications by bringing the WVA 2010 Communications Plan up to date with the existing literature and administering a 60 
liaison to guide new members through the process for a better understanding on policies and procedures.  Ms. Zell ended with her 61 
proposal of completing an assessment of Dosage-based Methodology by creating an analytical report and alternate collection of 62 
methodologies.  Further discussion ensued after general discussion on the goals. 63 
 64 
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Board members expressed an interest in moving past the KV contractual holdback performance by rolling that amount back into 1 
regular monthly payments.  Then the board would move more toward the spot bonus approach it used to recognize KV’s remarkably 2 
successful outcome in the TRICARE work for WVA.  Chairman Sobeck suggested that the discussion to restructure the whole 3 
bonus program be revisited at the annual meeting.   4 
 5 
 6 
 Chairman Sobeck then asked if there were any objections to approving the proposed KV 2018/19 performance goals. 7 

   8 
Upon motion duly made and seconded, it was unanimously 9 
 10 
VOTED:   To accept the proposed 2018/19 KV Performance Goals with the changes suggested at the meeting. 11 

 12 
 13 
WVA Communications Plan 14 
Ms. Zell reviewed the Communications Policy, stating that no new changes were recommended to the draft Communication Policy 15 
that had been presented at the April 2018 meeting.  Mr. Potter recommended the Board adopt this policy as is and make changes 16 
in the future should the board want to consider further refinements. WVA would then gain these added protections immediately.   17 
Discussion ensued regarding annual updates to appropriate stakeholders and the public so they remain aware of any WVA updates, 18 
how it is working, and to keep communication open. 19 
   20 
Chairman Sobeck asked if there were any objections to the WVA Communications Plan as presented.  There being no questions or 21 
comments, 22 
 23 

Upon motion duly made and seconded, it was unanimously 24 
 25 
VOTED:   To adopt the WVA Communications Plan as presented. 26 
 27 

Ms. Zell discussed with the Board future WVA communications strategies.  Ms. Zell believes the policy adopted is a good policy 28 
not only for herself, but also for the Board when representing other organizations and speaking with stakeholders.   Ms. Zell would 29 
like to work on this topic with any interested Board members during the summer and come back with a firm recommendation for 30 
the November meeting.   31 
 32 
Adjourned to Executive Session 33 

These decisions were summarized after conclusion of the executive session in the open meeting. 34 

The Board called KV back into the meeting.  At that point, Acting Chair, Beth Harvey requested Mr. Potter to provide the form 35 
for the KV evaluation.  She then advised KV of the results of the evaluation scoring. 36 
 37 

 38 
Upon motion duly made and seconded, it was unanimously 39 

The Board called KV back into the meeting.  At that point, Acting Chair, Beth Harvey requested Mr. Potter to provide the form 40 
for the KV evaluation.  She then advised KV of the results of the evaluation scoring. 41 
 42 
   43 

VOTED:  To score KV, with respect to WVA 2017/2018 holdback, as documented in the spreadsheet 44 
delivered to Mr. Potter.   45 

 46 
This resulted in a calculated amount of $50,987.25 payable to KV. 47 
 48 
In response to questions about any other items needing attention at this meeting, Mr. Potter and Ms. Zell recommended action on 49 
two remaining votes. 50 

 51 
Upon motion duly made and seconded, it was unanimously 52 

 53 
VOTED:  To adopt the Capital Reserve and Investment Policy. 54 
VOTED:  To approve WVA 2018/2019 Strategic Goals as presented. 55 

 56 
Closing 57 
 58 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at approximately 4:35 p.m. PDT. 59 
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Washington Vaccine Association 1 

Finance Committee Meeting 2 
701 5th Ave, Suite 4900, Seattle, WA  3 

September 18, 2018, 3:00-4:00 p.m. PST 4 
 5 

I. Attendance. The following individuals participated: 6 
 

Directors 
John Sobeck, MD, Chair - In-person 
Jason Farber, Esq., Davis Wright Tremaine, 
LLC 
Derek LeBrun, Sr. Director, Coordinated 
Care 

   
 Executive Director 
 Julia Zell, WVA ED - In-person 
    
  

KidsVax® 

 Peter Smith, Financial Analyst 
 Norman Roberge, Accountant 

Claire Roberge, Controller 
Charlene Stryker, Executive Assistant 

  
 Others 
 Anne Redman, Esq. Perkins Coie 

SheAnne Allen, Vaccine Manager, WA 
DOH 
Allen D. Gilbert, Audit Manager, 
CliftonLarsonAllen - In-person 
Polly Sidwell, Morgan Stanley - In-person 
David Keller, Morgan Stanley - In-person 
Stephanie Crook, Provider Advocacy, NW 
Region UnitedHealthcare 

 

II. Summary of Actions Taken and/or Recommended 7 
 8 
A. Actions Taken (votes adopted) 9 

1. To approve the July 10, 2018 WVA Finance Committee Meeting minutes. 10 
2. To recommend to the WVA Board the authorization of publication of the FYE 2017/18 Financial 11 

Statements and Independent Auditor’s Report. 12 
3. To adopt the proposed Investment Strategy with Morgan Stanley as outlined by Peter Smith’s Memo 13 

included in the packet. 14 
 15 

B. Follow Up Tasks/Action Items 16 

1. Ms. Zell and Ms. Roberge will review and sign the management representation letter which they 17 
will receive from Mr. Gilbert that was not included with the audited financials. 18 

2. Ms. Sidwell (Morgan Stanley) will send Ms. Roberge (KV) money wire instructions for transferring 19 
funds. 20 

3. Ms. Redman, Ms. Zell and Mr. LeBrun will set a meeting date to review KV and Ms. Zell’s reporting 21 
and approval procedures for expenditures. Mr. LeBrun agreed to serve as final reviewer of Ms. 22 
Zell’s and KV expenses with Ms. Zell providing the first approval level for KV expenses. 23 

4. Ms. Zell will provide the WVA Board with collection forecasts for various assessment grid options. 24 
 25 
III. Meeting Minutes 26 
At 3:00 p.m., a quorum having been established, Chairman John Sobeck called the meeting to order. Chairman Sobeck 27 
announced that the meeting was being recorded for the benefit of the minute-taker and would be deleted following the 28 
final approval of the minutes. The Committee considered calendar consent items. 29 
 30 
Upon motion duly made and seconded, it was unanimously 31 
 32 

VOTED: To approve the July 10, 2018 WVA Finance Committee Meeting Minutes. 33 
 34 
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Overview of the Draft FYE 2017/18 Audited Financials 1 
Mr. Gilbert directed the Committee to the FYE 2017/18 audited financials.  He reported that once again the WVA 2 
received a clean audit. He summarized key financial figures for this year, comparing them to last year’s audited 3 
financials. The WVA accumulated approximately $24 million increase in cash this year.  Estimated collectible 4 
assessments had a decrease of $3.4 million and prepaid vaccine numbers were down approximately $1.2 million from 5 
the previous year.  Total current assets were up by approximately $20 million.  Liabilities and accounts payable are 6 
comparable to last year.  The line of credit (LOC) maturing December 2016 was fully paid, leaving no balance this 7 
year. 8 
 9 
The 2018 Statement of Activity reflects an increase in assessments of approximately $3.1 million over last year, though 10 
the total net assessment activity is up $1.8 million from last year to slightly over $21 million this year.  The net increase 11 
is largely the result of the TRICARE settlement of $12.7 million and improved payer compliance.  Actual purchases 12 
of vaccines are relatively flat, year over year.  The WVA’s expenses were consistent with last year’s, the biggest 13 
variance being the legal expense of $306,000.  As a result, the change in restricted net assets is a $20 million increase 14 
to the bottom line for the year.  The Statement of Cash Flows shows an increase in cash from operations at $24 million. 15 
 16 
The remainder of the financial statements pertain to the footnotes of the organization and are virtually identical to last 17 
year, with only a slight difference in the assessments collected.  Mr. Gilbert concluded his briefing by reviewing 18 
briefly the required communications to the WVA Board and the governance letter, a copy of which will be provided 19 
with the final audit.  No deficiencies in internal controls were identified. 20 
 21 
Upon motion duly made and seconded, it was unanimously 22 
 23 
 VOTED: To recommend to the WVA Board the authorization of publication of the FYE  24 
   2017/18 Financial Statements and independent auditor’s report. 25 
 26 
Review of Refund Checks 27 
Ms. Roberge provided a brief overview of the refund check process and recent transactions. 28 
 29 
Financial Update 30 
Mr. Smith provided an overview of the WVA’s fiscal position, beginning with the cash reserve analysis summary.  As 31 
of July 31, 2018, there was approximately $34.5 million cash on hand.  Currently, there is nearly $38.5 million in 32 
cash.  He also updated the cash flow projections to incorporate the latest Department of Health (DOH) projections for 33 
vaccine expenditures. 34 
 35 
Ms. Zell commented on Mr. Smith’s financial update, noting that she has scheduled an Operations Committee in 36 
October with an agenda item including the option of lowering the assessment rates for 2019. Dr. Sobeck noted that 37 
having various options for a reduction of the WVA’s cash reserves would be beneficial and suggested that Ms. Zell 38 
provide the Board with different collection forecasts based on an additional grid reduction at various, logical times 39 
and their potential impacts.  Mr. LeBrun agreed, and Ms. Zell agreed to provide the information at the November 8th 40 
Board meeting. 41 
 42 
Beyond the current needs of cash for the next month, Mr. Smith advised investing the $25 million rather than leaving 43 
it in a noninterest-bearing account or an account with a minimal return. 44 
 45 
Investment Program Strategy 46 
Mr. Smith stated, based on the guidance of the Finance Committee, he and Ms. Zell researched options for active 47 
portfolio management to avoid the WVA appointing a WVA officer having to approve and authorize individual trades.  48 
This structure places individual buying and selling decisions in the hands of the portfolio manager. No individual buy 49 
and sell authorizations would be needed by the WVA Board, WVA agent, or designee; therefore, it is his 50 
recommendation based on the Committee’s desire to outsource the management of the portfolio a cash management 51 
plan that incorporates KeyBank Money Market funds for short term monthly operational funds (approximately 52 
$10MM).  After researching various options with entities that provide the type of investment structure compatible 53 
with the WVA’s Reserve Policy, he found five viable options.  Mr. Smith summarized each, providing the benefits 54 
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and the opportunity costs, concluding that due to the WVA’s long-term relationship with Polly Sidwell and Morgan 1 
Stanley and their favorable pricing, he suggests retaining Polly Sidwell as portfolio manager to be authorized to 2 
execute investments according to our Reserves Investment Policy. 3 
 4 
Ms. Sidwell along with Mr. Keller, from Morgan Stanley, gave a brief review of the Investment Strategy.  Ms. Sidwell 5 
stated that 80% of the portfolio would be in a 2 to 3-year range and only 20% would to a 4 to 5-year range.  Ms. 6 
Sidwell commented this is a very secure and stable investment. 7 
 8 
Ms. Zell recommended that the Committee adopt the investment strategy outlined whereby $25 million will be placed 9 
in a portfolio with Morgan Stanley and $10 million in a money market with KeyBank. 10 
 11 
Upon motion duly made and seconded, it was unanimously 12 
 13 

VOTED: To authorize the adoption of the Investment Program Strategy with Morgan Stanley in the 14 
amount of $25MM for immediate transfer and to keep $10MM in a Money Market account 15 
with KeyBank, and to authorize all necessary paperwork to accomplish the implementation 16 
with attorney Redman’s review. 17 

 18 
KV and J. Zell Expenditures 19 
Ms. Zell, with the approval from Ms. Redman, suggested designating a Board Member to oversee and authorize 20 
payments and expenditures for KV and for herself.  Ms. Redman stated that while WVA is moving in a direction of 21 
engaging a WVA Director, Ms. Zell is considered, at this time, an independent contractor and KV continues to perform 22 
their services for WVA; therefore, they are trying to establish a reporting relationship for expenses.  KV monthly 23 
service fee compensation along with the TRICARE Project and Special Payer Compliance will continue, but all 24 
invoices will be directed, first to Ms. Zell for approval and then to Mr. LeBrun for authorization.  Ms. Zell’s expenses 25 
for special projects on behalf of WVA including TRICARE along with a monthly fixed income while she is acting 26 
ED of WVA will be reviewed and authorized by Mr. LeBrun.  A meeting between Ms. Redman and Mr. LeBrun will 27 
also be made off-line. 28 
 29 
Other Matters from Committee Members 30 
There were no other matters to discuss. 31 
 32 
Executive Committee 33 
Dr. Sobeck had nothing to present for the Executive Session. 34 
 35 
Closing 36 
There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 3:57 p.m. 37 

2018-11-08 WVA Board Meeting Pg. 9



 A

 

      Current assets

1        Cash and cash equivalents 7,975,942.65$                    

2        Investments 25,022,280.63                    

3       Members Estimated Collectible Assessments 6,424,098.00                      

4        Prepaid Vaccine 7,829,956.04                      

5        Prepaid Administrative Services -                                       

 

6      Total current assets 47,252,277.32                    

7 Total assets 47,252,277.32$                  

 

 

      Current liabilities

8        Accounts payable 6,900.00$                           

9        Key Bank - Line of Credit -                                       

10        Payable to Washington Department of Health -                                       

11        Other accruals -                                       

 

12      Total current liabilities 6,900.00                              

      Net assets

13        Excess Assessments - Vaccines 27,514,481.13                    

14        Excess Assesments - Administrative Activities 19,730,896.19                    

 

15      Total net assets 47,245,377.32                    

 

16 Total liabilities and net assets 47,252,277.32$                  

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Washington Vaccine Association

Statement of Financial Position
As of September 30, 2018

ASSETS

10/24/2018
Unaudited - For Management Purposes Only

Prepared by KidsVax, LLC 1
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Washington Vaccine Association
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Periods Ending

A B C D
Inception Inception
Through Month Month Through
7/31/2018 8/31/2018 9/30/2018 9/30/2018

1 Cash balance - beginning of period -$                     34,580,954.49$    34,483,178.71$   -$                      

Inflows:
2 Principal prepayments 7,800,001.00       -                        -                      7,800,001.00        
3 Vaccine collections 483,819,987.28   7,796,343.13        7,527,847.61       499,144,178.02    
4 Interest income 53,408.37            51,838.00             -                      105,246.37           
5 Investment income/ (loss) 149,787.97          -                        13,210.80            162,998.77           
6 Key Bank - LOC advances -                       -                        -                      -                        

7 Total inflows 491,823,184.62   7,848,181.13        7,541,058.41       507,212,424.16    

Outflows:
8 Principal repayments (7,799,908.85)      -                        -                      (7,799,908.85)       

Program
9    Vaccine remittance State of WA (440,734,091.71)  (7,834,031.66)       (8,926,995.91)     (457,495,119.28)   

10    Vaccine Selection Development (79,950.00)           -                        -                      (79,950.00)            
11    Public information (147,626.81)         -                        -                      (147,626.81)          

12    Total program disbursements (440,961,668.52)  (7,834,031.66)       (8,926,995.91)     (457,722,696.09)   

Administration
13    Administrative services (5,059,367.72)      (124,715.65)          (94,383.13)          (5,278,466.50)       
14    Project management fees (419,878.90)         -                        -                      (419,878.90)          
15    Denied claims recovery (146,533.44)         (2,800.00)              (2,800.00)            (152,133.44)          
16    Design and advertising (31,031.38)           -                        -                      (31,031.38)            
17    Claims system development (26,000.00)           -                        -                      (26,000.00)            
18    Legal fees (587,639.55)         15,590.40             5,615.20              (566,433.95)          
19    Audit fees (95,055.00)           -                        (6,800.00)            (101,855.00)          
20    Website and information technology (113,993.32)         -                        -                      (113,993.32)          
21    Travel (1,829.68)             -                        -                      (1,829.68)              

22    Total administration (6,481,328.99)      (111,925.25)          (98,367.93)          (6,691,622.17)       

Office
23    Bank Fees (552,877.43)         -                        -                      (552,877.43)          
24    Office supplies 883.92                 -                        -                      883.92                  
25    Postage and shipping (1,438.36)             -                        -                      (1,438.36)              
26    Printing (4,819.61)             -                        -                      (4,819.61)              
27    Office Rent (51,313.90)           -                        -                      (51,313.90)            
28   Telephone (2,514.23)             -                        -                      (2,514.23)              

29    Total office (612,079.61)         -                        -                      (612,079.61)          

Other
30    Insurance (247,821.95)         -                        (650.00)               (248,471.95)          
31    Interest Line of Credit (1,136,610.90)      -                        -                      (1,136,610.90)       
32    Board meetings (2,811.31)             -                        -                      (2,811.31)              

33 Total Other (1,387,244.16)      -                        (650.00)               (1,387,894.16)       

34 Total outflows (457,242,230.13)  (7,945,956.91)       (9,026,013.84)     (474,214,200.88)   

35 Cash balance - end of period 34,580,954.49$   34,483,178.71$    32,998,223.28$   32,998,223.28$    

Note:  Cash balance includes amounts in Key Bank and Morgan Stanley

10/24/2018
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4 

Washington Vaccine Association 

Notes to Financial Statements 

For the Month Ending September 30, 2018 

 

Items of interest in the financial Statements for the month ending September 30, 2018. 

During the month $25,000,000 was transferred from WVA’s general cash account to Morgan Stanley for 

investment per WVA’s investment policy.  This investment generated $13,210 in earnings for the month 

and is reflected in the statement of activities on line 4 and in the statement of cash flow on line 5. 

During the month WVA received $20,000 from New Hampshire Vaccine Association to aid in the 

TRICARE expenses.  This payment is reflected on line 12 of the Statement of Activities as a reduction of 

expenses.  
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OCTOBER 24, 2018 
 

Washington Vaccine Association 
Board of Directors 
PO Box 94002   
Seattle, WA 98124-9402 

WVA Program Savings Calculation for FYE June 30 
 
Dear Directors, 
 
Below is our calculation of the savings that the program has created in the fiscal years ended June 30, 2017 and June 
30, 2018. 
  

                       

 
  FY 6/2018   FY 6/2017   

A.   CDC Survey Market Comparison costs: 
          $91,976,142  

      
$103,784,231  

     (Actual doses per brand x CDC market survey)   
  

 
  

  

B.   WVA Program costs:   
  

Cost of vaccine replenishments    $65,491,991   $68,127,738  
+ Operating Cost    1,821,862  1,075,438  
+/- Net change in assessment rates          - 869,074 
+/- Net Interest Expense/(Income).  

  (51,903)   114,461  
 

  
  

= Total Program Cost    $67,261,950   $70,186,711  
 

  
  

C.   WVA Program Savings (A – B = C)     $24,714,192   $33,597,520  
 

  
  

D.   Program Savings Percentage (C / A = D)   26.87% 32.38% 
 

   
 

Notes: 
1. In any program like this it is not possible to calculate savings with 100% accuracy.  There are a number of 

reasons for this including the fact that some providers may continue to bill for some private supply.  
 

2. The market comparison used for each dose is an average of prices given in response to the survey conducted 
annually by the CDC (http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/programs/vfc/awardees/vaccine-management/price-
list/).  Information is not provided on volume or location purchased.  This CDC survey just addresses vaccine 
costs. It does not include other costs such as management fees, financing costs or other overhead, which some 
providers properly include in billings.  Neither does it include normal payer administration costs for 
individual claims administration.  
 

3. We believe this is a fair representation of the cost savings for the vaccines themselves.  Payments to providers 
for administration of vaccines, of course, are completely outside of this system.  
 

4. KidsVax.org will continue to track this metric periodically to aid the WVA in monitoring its program 
effectiveness.  

Sincerely, 
 
 

Peter M. Smith 
Financial & Internal Control Analyst 

cc: Julia Zell, Executive Director 
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MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:  Julia Zell, Executive Director & WVA Board 
FROM: Peter Smith, Financial Analyst 
SUBJECT:  WVA Cashflow Model Scenarios 
DATE:  October 31, 2018 

 
WVA Cashflow Model Scenarios 

 
The following scenarios model several options for grid changes in the coming year.  The CDC updates its 
contract rates each April 1 and typically results in an increase in rates by a weighted average total of three to 
four percent (3-4%). 
 

Option 1:  No Change in the current WVA Grid 
This option, by absorbing the April 1, 2019 CDC increase, would result in $2,374,096 
reduction in overall cash balance by June 30, 2020. 

 
Option 2:  One percent (1%) reduction in the current WVA Grid on July 1, 2019 

This option, by absorbing the April 1, 2019 CDC increase plus reducing the current rate per 
vaccine by one percent on July 1, 2019, would result in $6,234,404 reduction in overall cash 
balance by June 30, 2020. 

 
Option 3:  Two percent (2%) reduction in the current WVA Grid July 1, 2019 

This option, by absorbing the April 1, 2019 CDC increase plus reducing the current rate per 
vaccine by two percent on July 1, 2019, would result in $9,556,260 reduction in overall cash 
balance by June 30, 2020. 
 

Projection models are updated and monitored monthly for variations. The above scenarios are estimates and 
include various assumptions including the consistency of the overall system, consistency of the public health 
(lack of an unexpected epidemic or crisis, etc.), consistency of assessment collections, and consistency of CDC 
contract rates and increases.  Any variance in these factors can result in variations to the WVA cashflow. 
 
Projection models are updated and monitored monthly for variations.   
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November 8, 2018 Executive Director Overview 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

                           “It was the best of times, it was the worst of times . . .” 

Perhaps borrowing a famous author’s words isn’t the most conventional way to begin an Executive 
Director’s report, but the stark contrast described by Dickens seems most appropriate when I 
consider the astonishing success the WVA has recently experienced, overcoming substantial, if 
not potentially fatal obstructions that just four years ago could have been aptly described as “the 
worst of times.” As I outlined in June, the Association’s most recent feats are nothing short of 
incredible given that at the end of 2015 the WVA was in dire financial straits, burdened by both 
provider and payer non-compliance, and the Center for Disease Control questioned the viability of 
the dosage-based assessment (DBA) system. During our darkest days, I’m certain many of you 
recall the grim report that the Department of Health (DOH) had to split the monthly funds requests 
from the WVA into two as the Association did not have enough money on-hand to fully fund a 
month’s vaccine purchases at one time. Granted, KeyBank’s authorization of a $15 million line of 
credit allowed undisrupted vaccine funding, but the Association’s diminished fiscal position was 
concerning and led to dramatic grid increases that troubled payers and left the organization 
vulnerable. Concomitantly, the Association’s collections suffered as payer and provider 
observance of the requirements of the dosage-based assessment system declined, punctuated by 
TRICARE’s wholesale refusal to participate equating to a $200,000 per month collections 
shortfall. 

Despite these myriad challenges, the WVA Board remained engaged, inventive, and made several 
key decisions—including a critical one to expend more resources to fix growing problems through 
authorizing special project work—that has resulted in not only restored financial vitality, but 
corrected operational malaise that diminished the WVA’s effectiveness and commitment to 
maintaining payer equity.  Recent work has enabled the organization to begin to focus on other 
goals related to institutional improvements and strategic partnerships. I am truly overwhelmed by 
the progress we have made and am excited to continue to serve this amazing Association as the 
full-time Executive Director. Thank you to the Board for your confidence and support; I intend to 
carry-out my duties with diligence and distinction.  

Holding with the WVA’s recent pattern, our cash collections are as Peter Smith projected, with 
the July 1 assessment reduction in full effect. Since June, the newly constituted Audit, Finance, 
and Compliance Committee has exercised the authority given to them by the Board to put in place 
a strategic reserve investment plan to guarantee that the WVA remains a good steward of 

Assessment Collections as of 9/30/2018: $499 + Million 
Remittances to State of WA since inception: $457 + Million 
Members Estimated Collectible Assessments 10+ Million 
Prepaid Vaccine Purchases:  $6 + Million 
Cash Balance: $7 + Million 
Morgan Stanley $25 Million 

 

2018-11-08 WVA Board Meeting Pg. 19



 

assessment dollars. Accordingly, after extensive review of various investment options, the 
Committee voted to continue our relationship with Morgan Stanley and transfer $25 million for 
immediate investment, with active portfolio management.  Currently, all funds have been invested 
and the Association should expect a 3.5-3.7% yield, providing enough of a return to off-set the 
majority of the WVA’s operational costs. Lastly, the annual audit was completed by 
CliftonLarsonAllen (CLA) in September, and a clean auditors’ opinion was issued. The auditors 
found no deficiencies in internal controls and the Finance and Audit Committee recommends 
publication of the audited financials.  

With regard to other operational matters, the 17/18 Annual Report is in its final stages of review 
and has been included in the Board packet for approval.  This year, the report features similar, 
explanatory content on the front page as prior years as this communication is intended to serve as 
an introduction to the WVA’s core functions and purpose. The back page contains an infographic 
showing some of the State’s immunization achievements, and focuses on our strategic partnership 
with the DOH and their most recent awards. As requested by Board Member Dr. Marcuse, I have 
included a cover letter that provides more details about the WVA’s yearly activities. This 
informational piece will be sent to WA stakeholders, and specifically, the Association’s legislative 
champions along with the Annual Report to help re-establish relationships with those who have 
long championed our program.  
 
One matter for the Board’s consideration concerning the WVA’s efforts to ensure payer equity is 
the potential alternative settlement report process.  Currently, only major insurers are processing 
settlement reports—the back-end system the top payers in WA agreed upon during the WVA’s 
start-up phase to guarantee that assessments began to flow prior to large-scale provider compliance 
with the DBA. By accord, the four largest payers by assessment volume auto-generate an 
assessment when a provider only submits a vaccine administration claim with no corresponding 
DBA.  While the Operations Committee has discussed requiring all payers to complete this process 
or some alternative, and has revisited the topic periodically, recent events, (including TRICARE’s 
agreement to pay 1.8% above the WVA’s current assessment grid to compensate for their inability 
to process settlement reports), necessitates the WVA taking further action to institutionalize the 
process or less cumbersome alternatives.  After discussion with KV and the Operations Committee, 
I believe we have found a simple way to achieve this aim, and look forward to the Board’s 
feedback.  
 
Also included in this Board packet are the documents related to the proposed structural changes 
that were precipitated by the Board’s acceptance of retaining a full-time Executive Director (ED) 
in June and reducing the administrative services contract with KidsVax. Since late June, the 
Executive Committee met several times via teleconference and exchanged pages of emails, all in 
consultation with outside counsel, to consider various options regarding the potential form the 
arrangement with a full-time ED could take, as well as consider my personal fitness for the 
position. After receiving candid and unfettered documents regarding my employment history and 
performance while at KV, provided by Fred L. Potter, the Committee voted to proceed with the 
engagements, styling the ED position as an employment relationship with the WVA, while 
retaining a separate administrator. The duties of the ED and the administrator have been clearly 
defined after significant input from both KV and I.  The resulting documents have been 
summarized by Anne Redman for your review.  I am confident that the outcome of these new 
arrangements will allow for greater clarity as to roles and responsibilities of KV and the ED, 
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increased internal controls, and provide the WVA with much-needed resources to continue the 
compliance and communications work that began recently. Many thanks go to the Executive 
Committee for their diligence, thoughtfulness, and dedication through this process; their 
willingness to come together to review a significant amount of information and make hard 
decisions deserves our approbation and gratitude.   
 
Finally, I am excited to convey the news that the WVA’s work with TRICARE is coming to an 
end.  TRICARE is now paying almost all assessments on an on-going basis at 1.8% higher than 
the WVA grid rate, is correcting wrongful denials and re-processing improperly priced 
assessments, and is working on a final settlement offer for assessments due prior to December 23, 
2010.  Since the last Board meeting in June, the WVA advanced the vaccine funding argument 
with TRICARE’s general counsel that even if the Defense Health Agency (DHA) is only 
responsible for the costs of vaccines administered on or after December 23, 2010, the WVA is 
owed for assessments beginning in May 2010 that funded the purchase of those vaccines provided 
after the statute of limitations date. In September, the WVA provided TRICARE a legal-style 
memorandum that outlined this argument.  Shortly thereafter, DHA requested support for the 
memo demonstrating the WVA’s full funding cycle is longer than five months in order to verify 
that assessments generated months prior actually pay for vaccines administered hundreds of days 
later. After three in-person meetings, numerous teleconferences, and even more email exchanges, 
DHA has stated that they are close to finalizing their calculations for the last arrears settlement 
offer. I am deeply grateful to Dr. Sobeck who traveled with me to Washington, DC to meet with 
Senator Murray, Senator Cantwell, and Representative Kilmer’s staffers to ask for support for our 
final efforts to recover the 2010 assessments owed by TRICARE. Lastly, we all owe a big “thank 
you” to the DOH that spent countless hours providing us with data to support the TRICARE memo, 
answering DHA’s follow-up questions, and continuing to support our efforts. Hopefully by our 
next Board meeting, we can all enjoy having one-less outstanding issue on our agenda.  
 
I am deeply grateful to each of you for your service on this Board, and your work in improving the 
health outcomes of Washington’s children through this unique organization.  
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Julia G. Zell, M.A., Esq. 
WVA, Executive Director 
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MEMORANDUM 
 
 

TO: WVA Board  
FROM: Julia Zell, MA, Esq., Executive Director  
DATE: October 31, 2018 
RE: Settlement Report Process and Alternatives  
 
Overview: The Settlement Report Process (SRP) was created during the WVA set-up and has been 
maintained by the major insurance carriers so that the WVA can recover assessment costs when 
providers fail to submit a dosage-based assessment and only submit a vaccine administration claim.  In 
this scenario, major payers auto-generate a payment to the WVA at the correct grid rate, and submit the 
payments either monthly or quarterly.  Traditionally, only the major insurance carriers have participated 
in this process as it required sophisticated claims processing systems, and third-party administrators 
have sometimes claimed they lack the ability to complete this process. Though provider compliance has 
increased in the past year, KV estimates WVA loses approximately $250,000 annually in assessments 
as a direct result of this issue.  Though the WVA has continued to improve provider communications, 
engaging strategic partners to aid in disseminating information regarding proper completion of the DBA 
process, it is not feasible for the WVA to catch all provider errors. Thus, broad corrective efforts should 
be focused at the payer level. 
 
Issue: The current system of having some payers submit assessments through the Settlement Report 
process, but not requiring others to do so creates an assessment inequity.   
 
Potential Alternatives: 
1) Require that all payers participate in the SRP.   

• This option is probably not viable as many third-party-administrators located out-of-state 
may not have the resources to complete this process. Next, it would be difficult for the 
WVA to communicate the requirements of the Settlement Report Process to payers 
unfamiliar with it. This would also complicate the WVA’s internal compliance work as it 
would have to track payments and develop historical trends and estimates to ensure payers 
were actually paying assessments when no DBA is submitted.  

 
2) Have payers that either cannot or will not participate in the SRP pay a flat, annual assessment that 

equals the average of assessments collected by the payers that continue to submit the settlement 
reports.  An exemption should be made for payers that remit less than $10,000 annually in 
assessments to the WVA since many of these payers are unfamiliar with the WVA, the cost of 
collection may exceed the return, and the practice may cause self-funded plans to challenge the 
assessment system.  

• This approach would require that the WVA’s major payers continue the Settlement Process 
so that there is enough data to create a fair flat assessment.  Currently, the WVA collected 
1.8% of its assessments through the alternate process from major payers.  Under this 
design, the WVA could send notification of the additional assessment with the annual, 
statutory assessment letters that are sent out in November.  KV would then handle 
collections and compliance work.  
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• This is most likely the easiest option to implement and to track compliance. It would 
require the least complicated administration and minimal resources.  
 

3) Require payers that do not participate in the SRP to load and pay a higher grid rate equal to the 
average of assessments collected by the payers that continue to submit the settlement reports. 
Essentially, all payers opting out of the SRP would need to auto-adjudicate dosage-based 
assessments to a higher amount. While, theoretically, all payers should be performing this 
function, KV has confirmed that many of the smaller payers cannot do this, or will not expend the 
necessary resources to code their systems to generate payments.  

• This choice would be difficult for the WVA to administer as it would be hard to 
communicate to all payers what they would need to do and how to do it.  It would also be 
difficult for KV to ensure that payers were complying with paying the higher grid.   

• Given the top 5 highest assessment volume payers are also the most sophisticated and they 
have the greatest ability to adjudicate DBAs to a different grid level if submitted 
incorrectly or at a differently level, it is unlikely the WVA would have success if it 
proceeded with this option.  

 
Recommendation:  
My clear recommendation is for the WVA to adopt Option 2 and work with KV to come up with a plan 
to operationalize this choice.  Given that there would be minimal set-up to put this process in place, this 
process could be adopted by the WVA Board next April and implemented in 2019.   

Proposed Actions: 
1) Direct KV to work with the WVA ED to operationalize the alternative to the SRP.  
2) Authorize the WVA to work with outside counsel to revise the Plan of Operation to require this 

alternative process.  
3) Authorize the WVA to work with outside counsel to come up with a new policy regarding the 

alternative SRP.  
4) Authorize KV to proceed with a limited special project engagement with a monthly cap of $5,000, 

with work to be performed primarily by Norm Roberge in conjunction with and managed by the 
ED.  

5) KV would provide a brief written project summary to the ED monthly and at any other time upon 
request of the Board or ED. 
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Dear Friends  
and Colleagues, 
This year, I am pleased to share
several Washington Vaccine 
Association’s (WVA’s) achievements,
many of which were the culmination of
several year’s work. As the Association
closes its 8th year of operations, payer
compliance is at its highest level, the
WVA met its operating capital reserve
targets and expects to be able to
maintain assessment rates, and the
WVA Board set long-term, strategic
goals. We are excited to share news
about these organizational milestones.

First, the Association was able to secure
funding participation by TRICARE, the
US military’s health insurance program.
Their equitable contribution to our
universal vaccine program ensures
payer equity and equal access to the
State’s reliable vaccine supply. Due
to the commitment of the WVA Board  
in developing sound operational and
financial policies, the WVA has achieved
fiscal security that will guarantee a
stable revenue source to fund the
Department of Health’s vaccine
purchases without dramatic assessment
increase. Lastly, I am thankful for the
hard work the Board undertook in setting
long-term strategic goals and developing
short-term performance targets aimed at
improved support, decreased vaccine
wastage, and lowering immunization
costs. Though the WVA’s focus remains
on facilitating the universal purchase
of vaccines for Washington’s children,
the WVA seeks to continually improve.   
I believe the WVA’s goals of
strengthening our partnerships with
stakeholders like Washington providers,
the Department of Health, and payers
will make certain the best public health
outcomes for Washington residents.

As always, thank you for your
unwavering support.

John A Sobeck, MD, MBA 
Board Chair

2017 - 2018

• No Provider Financing Costs. Instead of fronting significant dollars to keep 
vaccines on hand, providers receive and administer pediatric vaccines from the 
DOH and use their existing billing system to trigger WVA’s collection of funding 
from health plans.

• Consolidated Storage and Ordering. Clinic staff can avoid both navigating 
complex ordering systems and keeping separate storage inventories for vaccines 
based on who paid for them or who they will immunize. The Department of Health 
provides support for one vaccine ordering process, regardless of the patient’s 
insurance status.

• Stable Vaccine Supply. Providers can focus on patient needs and have supply  
on hand to immunize kids. 

• Healthcare Savings. The Department of Health bulk purchase of all pediatric 
vaccines provides significant cost savings versus the private market.

Stable Childhood Vaccine Funding Achieved
Since 2010, the WVA has aided the universal purchase of recommended vaccines 
for all children in Washington State. With funding collected from health plans, 
the WVA remits payments to the DOH for the purchase of childhood vaccines, 
supporting the infrastructure that ensures all children have access to vaccines at 
no cost to the patient. This innovative system means that cost is never a barrier for 
Washington children in receiving immunizations.

A Powerful Model 
Vaccine costs continue to rise nationally. The WVA’s role in 
stabilizing vaccine funding has played a crucial role in ensuring 
all Washington children have access to recommended vaccines. 
Our model has powerful benefits:

Annual Report

W
V

A
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FINANCIALS July 1, 2017 - June 30, 2018

Childhood Vaccine Funding Sources 
Estimated Total: $158,176,379
41% | State Funds (Assessments collected by WVA)
3% | State-funded Health Insurance Programs 
56% | Federal Funds

WVA Program Expenditures 
Total: $67,313,853
97% | Remittance to WA for Vaccine Costs* 
3% | Operating Costs
*This chart reflects funding for WVA-funded vaccines. To view the 
complete FY2017 financial analyses, please see the complete 
audited financials at www.wavaccine.org/audit/2018.

Award-Winning Partners
The WVA is proud to be a strategic partner of the WA 
Department of Health. This year, the Office of Immunization 
and Child profile was recognized at the National Immunization 
Conference for making outstanding progress toward Healthy 
People 2020 targets for adolescent immunization coverage. 
WA was also given a Bull’s-Eye Award at the Association 
of Immunization Managers’ conference for innovation and 
excellence in crafting immunization strategies that positively 
impact public health.

Source: http://results.wa.gov/children-19-35-months-receiving-all-recommended-vaccinations
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ADMINISTRATOR:

PHONE:  1-855-KidsVax (543-7829) 
FAX:  1-855-KidsFax (543-7329) 
WEBSITE:  www.KidsVax.org

WVA Board of Directors
John Sobeck, MD, MBA, Chair 
PNW Market Medical Executive, Cigna

John B. Dunn, MD, MPH 
Medical Director for Preventative Care,  
Kaiser Permanente

Catherine Falanga 
Director of Provider Relations,  
Aetna Life Insurance Co.

Jason A. Farber, Esq. 
Partner, Davis Wright Tremaine LLP 

Beth Harvey, MD 
South Sound Pediatric Associates

Derek LeBrun, MBA 
Sr. Director, Finance and Risk 
Management, Coordinated Care

Edgar K. Marcuse, MD, MPH, FPIDS 
Emeritus Professor of Pediatrics, 
University of Washington

Laura McKenna, CPhT 
Clinical Pharmacy Project Coordinator, 
Regence Group-Healthcare Services 
Seattle/Tacoma

Chad Murphy, BS, PharmD 
Vice President, Pharmacy Strategic 
Programs, Premera, Blue Cross

Randy Parker 
Assistant Administrator, Carpenters  
Trust of Western Washington 

Michele Roberts, MPH, MCHES 
Director, Office of Immunization and  
Child Profile, State Department of Health

W W W . W A V A C C I N E . O R G

KIDSVAX STAFF

Julia G. Zell, MA., Esq. 
Executive Director

Fred L. Potter, MBA, Esq. 
Managing Member

Peter Smith, MBA 
Financial Analyst

Claire M. Roberge, MBA 
Controller
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WVA Annual Executive Director Summary:  November 2018  
 

 
As the WVA closes out its 8th year, many of our Board members felt that is was important for the 
Association to provide an annual communication that summarized key events and achievements 
in the organization’s history not just for strategic partners, but for all stakeholders, many of whom 
donated resources to help establish the WVA and ensure its success during its formative years. For 
those who have been somewhat out of touch, I doubt I can truly capture the rollercoaster-like 
events that have placed the WVA in the strong position it enjoys today. 
 
Over the past year, the WVA has made some significant advancements with respect to the 
Association’s operations, finances, and special projects at the same time as undergoing dramatic 
structural changes. Though these improvements have required a high degree of Board input and 
resources, I believe the changes will yield greater payer and provider compliance, allow the WVA 
to stabilize assessment grid changes year-over-year, and focus on improving provider 
communications.  Four years ago, the WVA had many challenges:  it had no capital reserve and 
was reliant on a line of credit to meet vaccine funding activities; the Center for Disease Control 
was questioning the state’s chosen method of assessment; TRICARE was refusing to even discuss 
paying into any state vaccine program, (costing the WVA millions per year); and the WVA was 
losing its long-time Deputy Executive Director, whose knowledge, experience, and relationships 
helped form the Association and ensure its early operational success. Most remarkably, today I 
can report that all of these challenges have been addressed and the Association has prevailed in 
each instance through the guidance and wisdom of the Board, its committees, and through the help 
of our partners, most notably, the Washington Department of Health (DOH). 
 
Operations 
On the operational front, the WVA Board voted on strategic goals this past June, one of which 
included a commitment to maintain payer equity.  In light of this goal, the WVA took a series of 
measures too. After reviewing the WVA’s assessment collections process and areas that need 
improvement, the Operations Committee helped Executive Director Julia Zell devise a plan to 
ensure all assessments are paid, even when providers only submit a vaccine administration claim 
to the insurer or third-party administrator. 
 
Financial 
In 2018, the WVA has quickly accumulated cash, in large part due to two, different settlements 
with the Defense Health Agency for past-due assessments totaling more than $14 million.  This 
influx of capital meant that the Association met its reserve goal of $25 million more rapidly than 
expected and allowed the Board to vote a modest vaccine assessment reduction while continuing 
to absorb vaccine price inflation.  After achieving its financial goals, the WVA Board voted to 
redefine the scope of the then Audit Committee to include selection of an active portfolio money  
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manager. After an extensive review of various investment institutions, the Committee selected 
Morgan Stanley to ensure the WVA remains a good steward of assessment funds by seeking a 
modest return on operating capital. Due to market changes, the WVA anticipates being able to 
cover the majority of operating expenses through the yield on investments while continuing 
assessment reductions. Overall, the Association is in a superior financial position and will work to 
maintain assessment stability in the future and keep contingency funds on hand to buffer 
unexpected cash outlays. 
 
Structural 
After eight years of receiving all administrative services from KidsVax® (KV), a New Hampshire-
based company with experience running state vaccine programs, the Board voted to retain a full-
time, independent executive director, Julia Zell. Ms. Zell has served the WVA since 2015 as an 
employee of KV, first in the capacity as Deputy Director, then as Executive Director. While this 
arrangement has added some complexity to the Association’s infrastructure as it has never had an 
employee before, the full-time position should allow for more resources to be spent on 
strengthening provider outreach, managing payer compliance, and developing organizational 
efficiency. 

 

2018-11-08 WVA Board Meeting Pg. 39



W
as

hi
ng

to
n 

Va
cc

in
e 

As
so

ci
at

io
n

 S
ta

te
m

en
t o

f A
ct

iv
iti

es
 a

nd
 C

ha
ng

es
 in

 N
et

 A
ss

et
s

A
B

C
D

E
F

Av
itu

s 
em

pl
oy

m
en

t p
ro

ce
ss

in
g 

(p
er

 V
O

X 
m

es
sa

ge
 a

nd
 p

ro
po

sa
l "

C
al

cu
la

t

2,
68

0.
00

   
   

Av
itu

s 
pr

oc
es

si
ng

 fe
e

Ac
tu

al
s 

fo
r 1

2 
m

on
th

s 
Ac

tu
al

s 
fo

r 3
 m

on
th

s 
An

nu
al

iz
ed

 N
ew

Se
t

20
18

/1
9 

Ex
pe

ns
e 

Bu
dg

et
m

on
th

s
15

,3
42

.0
0

   
 

Fe
d 

em
pl

oy
er

 ta
xe

s

en
di

ng
 J

un
e 

30
, 2

01
8

en
di

ng
 S

ep
 3

0,
 2

01
8

Pr
op

os
ed

 C
on

tra
ct

s
by

Re
co

m
m

en
de

d 
No

v 
20

18
ol

d
50

0.
04

   
   

   
St

at
e 

U
ne

m
pl

oy
m

en
t t

ax
es

 (I
da

ho
)

R
ev

en
ue

s:
1,

76
0.

00
   

   
W

or
ke

r's
 C

om
p

1
   

As
se

ss
m

en
ts

87
,2

62
,1

36
.6

1
$ 

   
   

 
22

,2
84

,6
46

.2
4

   
   

   
   

   
20

,2
82

.0
4

   
 

  t
ot

al

2
   

Le
ss

: V
ac

ci
ne

 E
xp

en
se

(6
5,

49
1,

99
1.

26
)

   
   

   
(1

9,
04

0,
54

2.
28

)
   

   
   

   
  

3
   

N
et

 A
ss

es
sm

en
t M

ar
gi

ns
21

,7
70

,1
45

.3
5

$ 
   

   
 

3,
24

4,
10

3.
96

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

ac
tu

al
 in

ve
st

m
en

t i
nc

lu
de

s 
Ke

y 
ba

nk
 fo

r 3
 m

on
th

s

4
   

In
ve

st
m

en
t I

nc
om

e
- 

38
,0

73
.2

8
 

65
0,

00
0

52
5,

57
3

3
M

or
ga

n 
65

0K
 a

nn
ua

l 9
 m

o 
in

co
m

e=
 4

87
50

0 
pl

us
 K

B 
3 

m
o 

24
K

5
   

O
th

er
 In

co
m

e
51

,9
03

.0
0

 
6

N
et

 R
ev

en
ue

21
,8

22
,0

48
.3

5
   

   
   

 
3,

28
2,

17
7.

24
 

65
0,

00
0

52
5,

57
3

Ex
pe

ns
es

:
21

   
Ad

m
in

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
- F

ix
ed

 C
on

tr
ac

t
47

4,
30

5.
00

 
12

2,
72

6
44

9,
99

5
46

7,
04

1
5

22
   

Ad
m

in
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

-v
ar

ia
bl

e 
co

m
pe

ns
at

io
n

50
,9

87
.2

5
 

0
0

23
   

Ad
m

in
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

- t
ra

ve
l (

B
oa

rd
 m

tg
 s

up
po

rt
, e

tc
.)

7,
50

0
J

7,
50

0
0

24
   

Ex
ec

ut
iv

e 
D

ire
ct

or
 - 

sa
la

ry
16

,7
00

20
0,

00
0

16
6,

70
0

3
25

   
Ex

ec
ut

iv
e 

D
ire

ct
or

 - 
em

pl
oy

m
en

t c
os

ts
20

,2
82

13
,5

21
4

Av
itu

s 
co

st
 e

st
im

at
es

 (s
ee

 a
bo

ve
 c

al
cu

la
tio

n 
fo

r d
et

ai
l)

26
   

Ex
ec

ut
iv

e 
D

ire
ct

or
 - 

be
ne

fit
s

15
,0

00
J

10
,0

00
4

Le
ga

l l
ic

en
se

s,
 C

LE
s,

 F
ed

er
al

is
t S

oi
ci

et
y,

 o
th

er
s 

at
 J

ul
ia

's
 d

is
cr

et
io

n

27
   

Ex
ec

ut
iv

e 
D

ire
ct

or
 - 

Tr
av

el
1,

06
4

50
,0

00
J/

B
34

,7
52

4
Tr

av
el

 fr
om

 B
oi

se
 2

x 
m

on
th

ly 
(2

5,
00

0)
 +

 in
 s

ta
te

 (1
0,

00
0)

 +
 n

at
io

na
l (

15
,0

28
   

Ex
ec

ut
iv

e 
D

ire
ct

or
 - 

ho
sp

ita
lit

y
32

7.
05

 
95

8
5,

00
0

J
4,

70
8

3
29

   
Ad

m
in

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
/ E

D
 -s

po
t a

w
ar

ds
25

0,
00

0.
00

 
0

50
,0

00
B

50
,0

00
0

10
0%

 d
is

cr
et

io
na

ry
 to

 b
oa

rd
.  

N
o 

lo
ng

er
 a

 c
on

tra
ct

 h
ol

db
ac

k 
+ 

fo
rm

ul
a 

aw

30
  A

dm
in

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
- T

R
IC

AR
E

46
2,

70
7.

48
 

82
,9

47
16

5,
89

5
6

31
  A

dm
in

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
- T

R
IC

AR
E 

(C
ro

w
el

l &
 M

or
in

13
3,

51
1.

61
 

33
,7

24
67

,4
47

6
32

  T
R

IC
AR

E 
- e

xp
en

se
 o

ffs
et

 fr
om

 o
th

er
 S

VP
s

- 
-6

0,
00

0
-1

20
,0

00
6

33
   

Le
ga

l f
ee

s
25

,2
60

.6
0

 
7,

37
3

35
,0

00
32

,2
46

6
34

   
Le

ga
l f

ee
s 

- T
R

IC
AR

E 
se

ttl
em

en
t

27
1,

05
3.

37
 

19
,0

12
16

9,
01

2
n/

a
3 

m
on

th
s 

ac
tu

al
 +

 e
st

im
at

ed
 fe

es
 (1

0%
) o

n 
$2

m
illi

on
 s

et
tle

m
en

t -
 $

50
,0

00
 

35
   

Au
di

t
10

,5
00

.0
0

 
10

,9
00

11
,4

00
11

,4
00

0
36

   
Sp

ec
ia

l P
ro

je
ct

s:
- 

37
   

  D
en

ie
d 

C
la

im
s 

R
ec

ov
er

y 
(M

ed
ic

al
 R

ev
en

u
33

,6
00

.0
0

 
8,

40
0

33
,6

00
33

,6
00

0
38

   
  A

ss
es

sm
en

t C
om

pl
ia

nc
e

21
,6

22
.9

5
 

16
,6

38
22

,1
84

4
38

   
  A

ll 
O

th
er

- 
25

,0
00

B
/J

25
,0

00
   

   
-  

 
Fu

tu
re

 s
pe

ci
al

 p
ro

je
ct

s 
w

ill 
re

qu
ire

 a
dv

an
ce

 b
oa

rd
 a

pp
ro

va
l &

 J
ul

ia
's

 m
an

a

39
   

C
om

m
un

ic
at

io
ns

 - 
ou

ts
id

e 
gr

ap
hi

cs
, e

tc
.

7,
50

0
J

7,
50

0
   

   
-  

 
40

   
EL

M
 (m

ee
tin

gs
 / 

m
ai

l f
or

w
ar

di
ng

 / 
pa

rk
in

g 
/ s

er
vi

ce
s)

9,
50

0
J

9,
50

0
   

   
-  

 
5,

00
0 

+ 
pa

rk
in

g 
+ 

m
is

c.
 s

er
vi

ce
s

41
   

In
su

ra
nc

e
46

,3
89

.5
1

 
65

0
49

,0
00

49
,0

00
0

42
   

B
an

k 
Fe

es
 

41
,5

98
. 2

0
 

24
,9

11
96

,0
00

96
,9

11
3

Ke
yB

an
k 

$8
,0

00
 m

on
th

ly 
se

rv
ic

e 
ch

ar
ge

s 
w

ith
ou

t e
ar

ni
ng

s 
of

fs
et

43
   

In
ve

st
m

en
t F

ee
s

75
,0

00
56

,2
50

3
M

or
ga

n 
St

an
le

y 
is

 3
0 

ba
si

s 
po

in
ts

 o
n 

$2
5m

illi
on

44
   

O
th

er
- 

0
2,

00
0

2,
00

0
0

45
To

ta
l a

dm
in

is
tr

at
iv

e 
Ex

pe
ns

es
1,

82
1,

86
3.

02
   

   
   

   
28

6,
00

3
1,

14
1,

77
7

1,
38

2,
16

7

50
To

ta
l e

xp
en

se
s 

ne
t o

f i
nt

er
es

t i
nc

om
e

1,
82

1,
86

3.
02

   
   

   
   

24
7,

93
0

49
1,

77
7

85
6,

59
4

0

51
In

cr
ea

se
 (d

ec
re

as
e)

 in
 n

et
 a

ss
et

s
20

,0
00

,1
85

.3
3

$ 
   

   
 

 52
U

nr
es

tr
ic

te
d 

ne
t a

ss
et

s,
 b

eg
in

ni
ng

 o
f y

ea
r

24
,2

49
,0

17
.6

5
   

   
   

 
 53

U
nr

es
tr

ic
te

d 
ne

t a
ss

et
s,

 e
nd

 o
f y

ea
r

44
,2

49
,2

02
.9

8
$ 

   
   

 

C
ol

um
n 

E 
is

 c
om

pu
te

d 
ba

se
d 

up
on

 th
e 

nu
m

be
r o

f m
on

th
s 

in
 c

ol
um

n 
F 

of
 th

e 
an

nu
al

iz
ed

 c
ol

um
n 

B 
nu

m
be

r p
lu

s 
th

e 
re

m
ai

ni
ng

 p
or

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
ye

ar
 a

t t
he

 c
ol

um
n 

C
 a

nn
ua

liz
ed

 ra
te

. J 
= 

Ju
lia

B
 =

 B
oa

rd

 N
ot

e:
  I

te
m

s 
sh

ad
ed

 in
 o

ra
ng

e 
ar

e 
ba

se
d 

up
on

 K
id

sV
ax

's
 c

ur
re

nt
 u

nd
er

st
an

di
ng

 o
f c

on
tra

ct
s 

be
in

g 
fin

al
iz

ed
 b

y 
An

ne
 R

ed
m

an
.  

Fi
na

l n
um

be
rs

 c
an

 b
e 

en
te

re
d 

up
on

 re
ce

ip
t o

f h
er

 d
oc

um
en

ts
. 

10
/3

1/
20

18
C

:\E
gn

yt
e\

Sh
ar

ed
\1

W
A\

05
. F

in
an

ce
s\

d.
 B

ud
ge

ts
\2

01
8-

19
\1

- 2
01

8-
10

-2
2 

04
.b

. W
VA

 2
01

8-
19

 B
ud

ge
t W

or
ks

he
et

s 
w

ith
 A

nn
ua

liz
ed

 a
nd

 b
le

nd
ed

 re
su

lts
 - 

FL
P 

v3
U

na
ud

ite
d 

- F
or

 M
an

ag
em

en
t P

ur
po

se
s 

O
nl

y 
   

   
  P

re
pa

re
d 

by
 K

id
sV

ax
.o

rg
2

2018-11-08 WVA Board Meeting Pg. 40



 

 

 
 

KV/ED Transition Summary: June – November 2018 
 

 
Summary of Events: At their June 28, 2018 meeting, the WVA Board voted to proceed with 
engaging their current Executive Director (ED), Julia Zell, then employed at KidsVax (KV), the 
WVA administrator, full-time under separate contract and continuing a limited administrative 
services engagement with KV to provide other services.  The WVA’s Executive Committee (EC) 
comprised of Chairman John Sobeck, Vice-Chairwoman Beth Harvey, Treasurer Derek Lebrun, 
and Secretary Ed Marcuse in consultation with outside counsel Anne Redman, meet numerous 
times via teleconference to determine how to structure each contract, to discuss what 
responsibilities would fall to the ED and what should most appropriately be performed by KV, and 
how the Board would exercise oversight and routine review of each party’s performance. At the 
June meeting, the Board expressed a general desire that the new contracts not exceed the WVA’s 
2017 administration costs. Mindful of this guiding principle, the EC proceeded accordingly.  
 
During the process, the EC requested information from Mr. Potter regarding Ms. Zell’s 
qualifications and performance while employed at KV.  In response, Mr. Potter provided extensive 
documentation and an in-depth assessment of Ms. Zell’s capabilities that was thoroughly reviewed 
by the EC and Ms. Redman. After careful consideration and deliberation, the EC voted to continue 
with separate engagements for both Ms. Zell and KV, continuing a relationship with each. 
 
Subsequently, the EC spoke with Ms. Zell and received adequate assurance that she is willing and 
able to continue in the ED role, and will work collaboratively with KV to manage the core 
functions of the WVA.  
 
Upon the recommendation of Ms. Redman, the EC determined that making Ms. Zell an employee 
of the WVA was the most desirable structure for the new ED relationship.  Accordingly, the WVA 
has arranged a contractor to manage the payroll and benefit functions while Ms. Redman will begin 
work on recommended changes to the WVA bylaws to accommodate for the new infrastructure. 
The KV administrative services contract has been modified to account for the full-time ED 
position, and the communications piece has been removed. Going forward, all special projects will 
be kept at a minimum as those services, limited to KV, have been largely subsumed by the KV 
base-contract. 
 
Both the new KV contract and ED will be presented to the Board at its annual meeting on 
November 8, 2018 by Ms. Redman and are expected to go into full effect shortly thereafter. 
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2018 Washington Vaccine Association Directory 
As of 10/31/2018 

 
Conference Call Information 

Conference Line: (267) 930-4000 
Conference ID:  103063718 

 
Board of Directors 

 
Payer Representatives 

Catherine “Cathy” Falanga 
Director of Provider Relations 
Aetna Life Insurance Co. 
600 University Street, Suite 920 
Seattle, WA  98101 
 

Phone:  206.701.8036 
Cell: 206.992.1293 
FalangaC@aetna.com 

Randy Parker 
Assistant Administrator  
Carpenters Trusts of Western Washington 
2200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 300 
Seattle, WA  98121-1839 
 

Phone:  206.441.6514 
randyp@ctww.org 
 

John B. Dunn, MD, MPH 
Medical Director for Preventative Care 
Kaiser Permanente  
Capitol Hill Campus 
201 16th Ave E (West Bldg) – 3rd Floor 
Seattle, WA  98112-5260 
 

Phone: 206.326.3343 
dunn.jb@ghc.org 
 
 

Derek LeBrun 
Sr. Director, Finance & Risk Adjustment 
Coordinated Care 
1145 Broadway #300 
Tacoma, WA  98402 
 

Phone: 503.516.6738 
DLEBRUN@coordinatedcarehealth.com 
lebrun_derek@yahoo.com 
 

Chad Murphy, BS, PharmD, Vice President, 
Pharmacy Contracting & Consulting 
Premera Blue Cross 
7001 220th St. SW 
Mail Stop 316 
Mountlake Terrace, WA  98043 
 

Phone:  425.918.3392 
Cell:   
Chad.Murphy@PREMERA.com 
Assistant:  Amy Testa 
Amy.Testa@PREMERA.com 
Phone: 425.918.5499 
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John Sobeck, MD 
PNW Market Medical Executive 
Cigna 
701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4900 
Seattle WA 98104 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Phone:  206.625.8861 
john.sobeck@cigna.com 
Assistant:  Venisa Young 
Venisa.Young@Cigna.com  
Phone: 206.539.4876 
Fax: 855.712.7230 
 

Laura McKenna, CPhT 
Clinical Pharmacy Project Coordinator 
The Regence Group-Healthcare Services 
Seattle/Tacoma 
1800 Ninth Ave., M/S S308 
Seattle, WA  98101 

Phone:  253.370.2103 
Laura.McKenna@regence.com  
Assistant:   
 
 

 
 
Self-Funded Employer Representative 
 

Jason A. Farber 
Davis Wright Tremaine LLP 
1201 Third Ave., Suite 2200 
Seattle, WA  98101 
 
 
 

Phone:  206.757.8041 
Cell:  206.604.0399 
jasonfarber@dwt.com 
Assistant:  Natasha Hovanski 
natashahovanski@dwt.com 
Phone: 206.757.8505 

    
Physician Representatives 
 

Beth Harvey, MD 
South Sound Pediatric Associates 
3516 12th Ave. NE 
Olympia, WA  98506 

Phone:  360.456.1600 
Cell:  360.561.9125 
betheharvey@comcast.net 
 
 

Ed Marcuse, MD, MPH, FPIDS 
Emeritus Professor of Pediatrics 
University of Washington 
9515 Northeast Shipping Lane 
Kingston, WA  98346 

Phone:  360.638.2588 (Home) 
Cell:  206.660.1132 
ekmarcuse@gmail.com 
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Government Representatives 

 
Michele Roberts, MPH, MCHES 
Director, Office of Immunization and Child Profile 
Washington State Dept. of Health 
PO Box 47843 
Olympia, WA  98504 
 
 

Phone:  360.236.3568 
Cell:  360.791.6724 
Fax:  360.236.3590 
michele.roberts@doh.wa.gov 
Assistant:  Cicely Bacon 
cicely.bacon@doh.wa.gov 
 

 
Non-Voting Vaccine Committee Members 

 

Appointed by the Board of Directors to the Vaccine Committee 

SheAnne Allen 
Vaccine Management Section Manager 
Washington State Dept. of Health 
PO Box 47843 
Olympia, WA 98504 
 

Phone: 360.236.3578 
Sheanne.allen@doh.wa.gov 
 
 
 

 
Vaccine Manufacturer Representative 
 

Jeff Gombosky 
Non-voting Vaccine Committee member 
Representative to Committee under HB 2551 sec. 
5(1)  

jeffgombosky@gmail.com 
 
 

 

Volunteer Vaccine Committee Member 

Mary Kay O’Neill, MD, MBA 
Partner 
Mercer 
1305 5th Avenue, Suite 1900 
Seattle, WA 98101 
 

Phone:  206.214.3503  
Fax:  201.214.3501  
Mary.Kay-ONeill@mercer.com 
Assistant:  Colleen Hale 
Colleen.Hale@mercer.com 
Phone: 206.214.3631 
 

Operations Committee Only Members 
Aetna 
 

 

Susan Comer 
Aetna 
 

ComerS@Aetna.com 
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Cigna 
 

 

Joshua Walker 
Cigna 
 

Joshua.Walker@cigna.com 
 
 

Kaiser Permanente 
 

 

Maureen Brooks 
Kaiser Permanente 
 

brooks.ma@ghc.org 
 

Tammy Blair 
Kaiser Permanente 
 

blair.t@ghc.org 
 
 

Premera 
 

 

Chad Murphy 
VP of Pharmacy, Contracting, & Consulting 
Premera Blue Cross 
 

chad.murphy@premera.com 
 

Tom Messick 
Vice President & General Manager 
Premera Blue Cross 
 

 

Providence 
 

 

Angela Wilson 
Providence 
 

 

Bill Wong 
Sr. Coding/Compliance Auditor/Educator 
Providence Health & Services 
2201 Lind Ave, SW, Suite 200 
Renton, WA 98057 
 

Phone:  425-525-6719 
Fax: 425-917-4055 
William.Wong@providence.org 
 

Lisa Johnson 
Providence 
 

lisa.johnson@providence.org 
 
 

Regence BlueShield 
 

 

Walter Kuiee 
Project Manager 
Regence BlueShield 
1800 9th Avenue, M/S S365 
Seattle, WA 98101 
 

Phone: 206.332.6486 
Walter.Kuiee@regence.com 
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United Healthcare 
 

 

Brandon Jensen 
Network Account Manager 
United Healthcare, Physician Contracting 
1111 3rd Avenue  
Seattle, WA 98101 
 

Phone: 206-926-6520 
brandon.jensen@uhc.com 
 

Stephanie Crook 
Provider Relations Consultant NW Region  
United Healthcare 
1111 3rd Avenue  
Seattle, WA 98101 
 

Phone: 952.406.3394 
stephanie_p_crook@uhc.com 
 

Zenith American Solutions 
 

 

Jeri Trice 
Client Services Executive 
Zenith American Solutions 
201 Queen Anne Avenue North, Suite 100 
Seattle, Washington 98109-4896 
 

Phone: 206.284.5387 VoIP 475387 
Cell: 206 276-7252 
Fax: 206.285.1701 
jtrice@zenith-american.com 
 

 
Outside Professionals 

  
Allen D. Gilbert, CPA 
Audit Manager 
CliftonLarsonAllen 
3000 Northup Way, Suite 200 
Bellevue, WA 98004-1446 

Phone:  425.250.6022 
Fax:  425.250.6050 
allen.gilbert@cliftonlarsonallen.com 
 
 
 

Anne Redman 
Outside Legal 
Perkins Coie LLC 
1201 Third Ave., Suite 4900  
Seattle, WA  98101-3099 
 

Phone:  206.359.6750 
Fax:  206.359.7750 
aredman@perkinscoie.com 
Assistant:  Cindy Hanna 
CHanna@perkinscoie.com 
 

Lisa Cargill 
Senior Account Director  
Desautel-Hege Communications  
315 W. Riverside Avenue, Suite 200 
Spokane, WA  99201 

Phone:  509.444.2350 
Cell:  509.290.2967 
lisac@desautelhege.com 
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Matthew O’Haren 
Investment Manager  
Morgan Stanley Smith Barney 
555 California St., 35th FL 
San Francisco, CA  94104 
 

Phone:  415.955.1577 
matthew.j.oharen@mssb.com 
 
 
 

Polly Sidwell 
Investment Manager 
Morgan Stanley Smith Barney 
601 Union St., Suite 5200 
Seattle, WA  98101 

Phone:  206.628.4885 
polly.j.sidwell@mssb.com 
 
 
 
 

KidsVax® 
 

WVA Executive Director: 
 

 

Julia G. Walter Zell 
CEO, Northwest Region 
2025 First Ave. 
Market Place Tower – PH-A 
Seattle, WA  98121 
 

Phone:  855.556.4104 
Cell:  206.735.2233 
jzell@kidsvax.org 
 

 
WVA Support Staff: 
 

 

Claire Roberge 
Controller 
PO Box 1885 
Concord, NH 03302-1885 
 

Phone:  855.556.4102 
croberge@kidsvax.org 
 
 
 

Fred L. Potter  
Managing Member 
PO Box 1885 
Concord, NH 03302-1885 

Phone:  855.556.4101 
Cell:  603.491.2389 
fpotter@kidsvax.org 
 
 

Nicole G. Price 
CEO, Northeast Region 
PO Box 1885 
Concord, NH 03302-1885 
 

Phone:  855.543.7829 
Cell: 844.459.9102 
nprice@kidsvax.org 
 

Heather Veen 
Sr. Executive Assistant, Paralegal 
PO Box 1885 
Concord, NH  03302-1885 
 

Phone:  855.556.4103 
hveen@kidsvax.org 
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Terry Mills 
Executive Assistant 
PO Box 1885 
Concord, NH  03302-1885 
 

Phone: 855.556.4106 
tmills@kidsvax.org 

Norm Roberge, CPA 
Assessment Monitoring and Internal Control 
PO Box 1885 
Concord, NH 03302-1885 
 

Phone:  603.496.7907 
nroberge@kidsvax.org 
 

Peter Smith, CPA 
Financial Analyst 
7856 Rysdale St. 
Niagara Falls, Ontario, Canada L2H 1G4 
 

Phone:  703.598.9975 
psmith@kidsvax.org 
 
 
 

SolutionWorx 
IT Services 
Mike Mazan 
Kevin Sparger 
Ryan Cich 
 

Phone:  703.961.1840 x115 
mmazan@solutionworx.com 
 

  
Others 

Meghan Crandall 
Kick Spark Creative LLC 
10728 20th Ave NE 
Seattle, WA  98125 
 

Phone:  206.417.8989 
m@kicksparkcreative.com 
 
 
 

Terese “Terri” Ristem  
Advanced Medical 
290 Broadway, Suite 395 
Methuen, MA 01844 
 

Tel: 978.683.5115 
Cell: 978.423.1269 
Fax: 978.683.7337 
 
 

Timothy Mansfield 
Vice President & Senior Relationship Manager 
Key Bank 
Mailcode:  WA-31-01-0210 
1101 Pacific Avenue 2nd Floor 
Tacoma, WA  98402 
 

Phone:  253.305.7387 
Cell: 253.686.1186 
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Provider Relations 

Aetna 

Catherine “Cathy” Falanga 
Director of Provider Relations 
Aetna Life Insurance Co. 
600 University Street, Suite 920 
Seattle, WA  98101 
 

Phone:  206.701.8036 
Cell: 206.992.1293 
FalangaC@aetna.com 

Cigna 
 

 

TBD 
 

 

Kaiser Permanente 
 

 

TBD 
 

 

Premera 
 

 

TBD 
 

 

Providence 
 

 

TBD 
 
 

 

Regence BlueShield 
 

 

Linda Proett  
Director of Provider Relations, WA Market 
Regence BlueShield 
 

Phone: 253.382.7108  
Linda.Proett@regence.com 
 
 

 
United Healthcare 
 

 

Stephanie Crook 
Provider Relations Consultant NW Region  
United Healthcare 
1111 3rd Avenue  
Seattle, WA 98101 
 

Phone: 952.406.3394 
stephanie_p_crook@uhc.com 
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Board Governance Roles & Committees 

Executive Committee 
 

Chair & President: John Sobeck, MD 
Vice-Chair: Beth Harvey, MD 
Treasurer: Derek LeBrun 
Secretary:  Ed Marcuse, MD 
Members: Michele Roberts 

 
Audit Committee 
 

Chair: John Sobeck, MD 
Members: Derek LeBrun 
 Jason Farber 

 
Vaccine Committee 
 

Chair: Ed Marcuse, MD 
Members: (Open Position) 
 John Dunn, MD 
 Michele Roberts 
Volunteer Member: Mary Kay O’Neill, MD (public member) 
Non-Voting Members: Sheanne Allen, Ex-Officio  
 Jeff Gombosky, representative to Committee under HB 2551 sec. 5(1)  

 
Vaccine Committee Consultants 
 

Chad Murphy, PharmD chad.murphy@premera.com 
Jeffrey Duchin jeff.duchin@kingcounty.gov 
John Dunn, MD dunn.jb@ghc.org 
Lisa Johnson, MD lisa.johnson@providence.org 
Rachel Wood, MD Rachel.Wood@lewiscountywa.gov; woodr@co.thurston.wa.us 

 
Operations Committee 
 

Chair: Julia Walter Zell   
Members: DOH – Michele Roberts Providence – Angela Wilson 
 DOH – Sheanne Allen Providence – Bill Wong 
 Aetna – Catherine “Cathy” Falanga Providence – Lisa Johnson 
 Aetna – Susan Comer Regence – Walter Kuiee 
 Cigna – Joshua Walker United Healthcare – Brandon Jensen 
 Kaiser Permanente – Maureen Brooks United Healthcare – Stephanie Crook 
 Kaiser Permanente – Tammy Blair United Healthcare – Trevor Hammond 
 Premera – Chad Murphy Zenith Administrators – Jeri Trice 
 Premera – Tom Messick  
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WASHINGTON VACCINE ASSOCIATION 
Governing Statutes under the Revised Code of Washington 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
RCW 70.290.010 – .900. Washington vaccine association.......................................................1 
RCW 43.70.720. Universal vaccine purchase account..............................................................8 
RCW 48.43.690. Assessment under RCW 70.290.040 considered medical expenses..............8 
RCW 82.04.640. Exemption – Washington vaccine association...............................................8 

 
Title 70. Public health and safety 

Chapter 290. Washington vaccine association 
RCW 70.290.010. Definitions 
The definitions in this section apply throughout this chapter unless the context clearly 
requires otherwise. 

(1) "Association" means the Washington vaccine association. 

(2) "Covered lives" means all persons under the age of nineteen in Washington state who 
are: 

(a) Covered under an individual or group health benefit plan issued or delivered in 
Washington state or an individual or group health benefit plan that otherwise provides 
benefits to Washington residents; or 

(b) Enrolled in a group health benefit plan administered by a third-party administrator. 
Persons under the age of nineteen for whom federal funding is used to purchase 
vaccines or who are enrolled in state purchased health care programs covering low-
income children including, but not limited to, apple health for kids under RCW 
74.09.470 and the basic health plan under chapter 70.47 RCW are not considered 
"covered lives" under this chapter. 

(3) "Estimated vaccine cost" means the estimated cost to the state over the course of a 
state fiscal year for the purchase and distribution of vaccines purchased at the federal 
discount rate by the department of health. 

(4) "Health benefit plan" has the same meaning as defined in RCW 48.43.005 and also 
includes health benefit plans administered by a third-party administrator. 

(5) "Health carrier" has the same meaning as defined in RCW 48.43.005. 

(6) "Secretary" means the secretary of the department of health. 

(7) "State supplied vaccine" means vaccine purchased by the state department of health 
for covered lives for whom the state is purchasing vaccine using state funds raised via 
assessments on health carriers and third-party administrators as provided in this 
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chapter. 

(8) "Third-party administrator" means any person or entity who, on behalf of a health 
insurer or health care purchaser, receives or collects charges, contributions, or 
premiums for, or adjusts or settles claims on or for, residents of Washington state or 
Washington health care providers and facilities. 

(9) "Total nonfederal program cost" means the estimated vaccine cost less the amount of 
federal revenue available to the state for the purchase and distribution of vaccines. 

(10) "Vaccine" means a preparation of killed or attenuated living microorganisms, or 
fraction thereof, that upon administration stimulates immunity that protects against 
disease and is approved by the federal food and drug administration as safe and 
effective and recommended by the advisory committee on immunization practices of 
the centers for disease control and prevention for administration to children under the 
age of nineteen years. 

RCW 70.290.020. Washington vaccine association - Creation 

There is created a nonprofit corporation to be known as the Washington vaccine association. 
The association is formed for the purpose of collecting and remitting adequate funds from 
health carriers and third-party administrators for the cost of vaccines provided to certain 
children in Washington state. 

RCW 70.290.030. Composition of association—Board of directors—Duties. 

(1)  The association is comprised of all health carriers issuing or renewing health 
benefit plans in Washington state and all third-party administrators conducting 
business on behalf of residents of Washington state or Washington health care 
providers and facilities. Third-party administrators are subject to registration under 
RCW 70.290.075. 

(2)  The association is a nonprofit corporation under chapter 24.03 RCW and has the 
powers granted under that chapter. 

(3)  The board of directors includes the following voting members: 

 (a) Four members, selected from health carriers or third-party administrators, 
excluding health maintenance organizations, that have the most fully insured and 
self-funded covered lives in Washington state. The count of total covered lives 
includes enrollment in all companies included in their holding company system. 
Each health carrier or third-party administrator is entitled to no more than a single 
position on the board to represent all entities under common ownership or control. 

 (b) One member selected from the health maintenance organization having the most 
fully insured and self-insured covered lives in Washington state. The count of total 
lives includes enrollment in all companies included in its holding company 
system. Each health maintenance organization is entitled to no more than a single 
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position on the board to represent all entities under common ownership or control. 

 (c) One member, representing health carriers not otherwise represented on the board 
under (a) or (b) of this subsection, who is elected from among the health carrier 
members not designated under (a) or (b) of this subsection. 

 (d) One member, representing Taft Hartley plans, appointed by the secretary from a 
list of nominees submitted by the Northwest administrators association. 

 (e) One member representing Washington state employers offering self-funded health 
coverage, appointed by the secretary from a list of nominees submitted by the 
Puget Sound health alliance. 

 (f) Two physician members appointed by the secretary, including at least one board 
certified pediatrician. 

 (g) The secretary, or a designee of the secretary with expertise in childhood 
immunization purchasing and distribution. 

(4)  The directors' terms and appointments must be specified in the plan of operation 
adopted by the association. 

(5)  The board of directors of the association must: 

 (a) Prepare and adopt articles of association and bylaws; 

 (b) Prepare and adopt a plan of operation. The plan of operation must include a 
dispute mechanism through which a carrier or third-party administrator can 
challenge an assessment determination by the board under RCW 70.290.040. The 
board must include a means to bring unresolved disputes to an impartial decision 
maker as a component of the dispute mechanism; 

 (c) Submit the plan of operation to the secretary for approval; 

 (d) Conduct all activities in accordance with the approved plan of operation; 

 (e) Enter into contracts as necessary or proper to collect and disburse the assessment; 

 (f) Enter into contracts as necessary or proper to administer the plan of operation; 

 (g) Sue or be sued, including taking any legal action necessary or proper for the 
recovery of any assessment for, on behalf of, or against members of the 
association or other participating person; 

 (h) Appoint, from among its directors, committees as necessary to provide technical 
assistance in the operation of the association, including the hiring of independent 
consultants as necessary; 

 (i) Obtain such liability and other insurance coverage for the benefit of the 
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association, its directors, officers, employees, and agents as may in the judgment 
of the board of directors be helpful or necessary for the operation of the 
association; 

 (j) On an annual basis, beginning no later than November 1, 2010, and by November 
1st of each year thereafter, establish the estimated amount of the assessment; 

 (k) Notify, in writing, each health carrier and third-party administrator of the health 
carrier's or third- party administrator's estimated total assessment by November 
15th of each year; 

 (l) Submit a periodic report to the secretary listing those health carriers or third-party 
administrators that failed to remit their assessments and audit health carrier and 
third-party administrator books and records for accuracy of assessment payment 
submission; 

 (m) Allow each health carrier or third-party administrator no more than ninety days 
after the notification required by (k) of this subsection to remit any amounts in 
arrears or submit a payment plan, subject to approval by the association and initial 
payment under an approved payment plan; 

 (n) Deposit annual assessments collected by the association, less the association's 
administrative costs, with the state treasurer to the credit of the universal vaccine 
purchase account established in RCW 43.70.720; 

 (o) Borrow and repay such working capital, reserve, or other funds as, in the judgment 
of the board of directors, may be helpful or necessary for the operation of the 
association; and 

 (p) Perform any other functions as may be necessary or proper to carry out the plan of 
operation and to affect any or all of the purposes for which the association is 
organized. 

(6)  The secretary must convene the initial meeting of the association board of 
directors. 

 

RCW 70.290.040. Estimate of program cost for upcoming year - Assessment collection - 
Surplus assessments - Start-up funding 

(1) The secretary shall estimate the total nonfederal program cost for the upcoming 
calendar year by October 1, 2010, and October 1st of each year thereafter. 
Additionally, the secretary shall subtract any amounts needed to serve children 
enrolled in state purchased health care programs covering low-income children for 
whom federal vaccine funding is not available, and report the final amount to the 
association. In addition, the secretary shall perform such calculation for the period of 
May 1st through December 31st, 2010, as soon as feasible but in no event later than 
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April 1, 2010. The estimates shall be timely communicated to the association. 

(2) The board of directors of the association shall determine the method and timing of 
assessment collection in consultation with the department of health. The board shall 
use a formula designed by the board to ensure the total anticipated nonfederal 
program cost, minus costs for other children served through state-purchased health 
care programs covering low-income children, calculated under subsection (1) of this 
section, is collected and transmitted to the universal vaccine purchase account created 
in RCW 43.70.720 in order to ensure adequacy of state funds to order state-supplied 
vaccine from federal centers for disease control and prevention. 

(3) Each licensed health carrier and each third-party administrator on behalf of its clients' 
health benefit plans must be assessed and is required to timely remit payment for its 
share of the total amount needed to fund nonfederal program costs calculated by the 
department of health. Such an assessment includes additional funds as determined 
necessary by the board to cover the reasonable costs for the association's 
administration. The board shall determine the assessment methodology, with the 
intent of ensuring that the nonfederal costs are based on actual usage of vaccine for a 
health carrier or third-party administrator's covered lives. State and local governments 
and school districts must pay their portion of vaccine expense for covered lives under 
this chapter. 

(4) The board of the association shall develop a mechanism through which the number 
and cost of doses of vaccine purchased under this chapter that have been administered 
to children covered by each health carrier, and each third-party administrator's clients 
health benefit plans, are attributed to each such health carrier and third-party 
administrator. Except as otherwise permitted by the board, this mechanism must 
include at least the following: Date of service; patient name; vaccine received; and 
health benefit plan eligibility. The data must be collected and maintained in a manner 
consistent with applicable state and federal health information privacy laws. 
Beginning November 1, 2011, and each November 1st thereafter, the board shall 
factor the results of this mechanism for the previous year into the determination of the 
appropriate assessment amount for each health carrier and third-party administrator 
for the upcoming year. 

(5) For any year in which the total calculated cost to be received from association 
members through assessments is less than the total nonfederal program cost, the 
association must pay the difference to the state for deposit into the universal vaccine 
purchase account established in RCW 43.70.720. The board may assess, and the 
health carrier and third-party administrators are obligated to pay, their proportionate 
share of such costs and appropriate reserves as determined by the board. 

(6) The aggregate amount to be raised by the association in any year may be reduced by 
any surpluses remaining from prior years. 

(7) In order to generate sufficient start-up funding, the association may accept 
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prepayment from member health carriers and third-party administrators, subject to 
offset of future amounts otherwise owing or other repayment method as determined 
by the board. The initial deposit of start-up funding must be deposited into the 
universal vaccine purchase account on or before April 30, 2010. 

RCW 70.290.050. Selection of vaccines to be purchased - Committee 

(1) The board of the association shall establish a committee for the purposes of 
developing recommendations to the board regarding selection of vaccines to be 
purchased in each upcoming year by the department. The committee must be 
composed of at least five voting board members, including at least three health carrier 
or third-party administrator members, one physician, and the secretary or the 
secretary's designee. The committee must also include a representative of vaccine 
manufacturers, who is a nonvoting member of the committee. The representative of 
vaccine manufacturers must be chosen by the secretary from a list of three nominees 
submitted collectively by vaccine manufacturers on an annual basis. 

(2) In selecting vaccines to purchase, the following factors should be strongly considered 
by the committee: Patient safety and clinical efficacy, public health and purchaser 
value, compliance with RCW 70.95M.115, patient and provider choice, and stability 
of vaccine supply. 

RCW 70.290.060. Additional duties and powers of the association and secretary - 
Penalty - Rules 

In addition to the duties and powers enumerated elsewhere in this chapter: 

(1) The association may, pursuant to either vote of its board of directors or request of the 
secretary, audit compliance with reporting obligations established under the 
association's plan of operation. Upon failure of any entity that has been audited to 
reimburse the costs of such audit as certified by vote of the association's board of 
directors within forty-five days of notice of such vote, the secretary shall assess a civil 
penalty of one hundred fifty percent of the amount of such costs. 

(2) The association may establish an interest charge for late payment of any assessment 
under this chapter. The secretary shall assess a civil penalty against any health carrier 
or third-party administrator that fails to pay an assessment within three months of 
notification under RCW 70.290.030. The civil penalty under this subsection is one 
hundred fifty percent of such assessment. 

(3) The secretary and the association are authorized to file liens and seek judgment to 
recover amounts in arrears and civil penalties, and recover reasonable collection costs, 
including reasonable attorneys' fees and costs. Civil penalties so levied must be 
deposited in the universal vaccine purchase account created in RCW 43.70.720. 

(4) The secretary may adopt rules under chapter 34.05 RCW as necessary to carry out the 
purposes of this section. 

2018-11-08 WVA Reference Materials Packet Pg. 15



RCW 70.290.070. Board shall submit financial report to the secretary 

The board of directors of the association shall submit to the secretary, no later than one 
hundred twenty days after the close of the association's fiscal year, a financial report in a 
form approved by the secretary. 

RCW 70.290.075. Third-party administrators—Registration and reporting 

(1) A third-party administrator must register with the association. Registrants must report 
a change of legal name, business name, business address, or business telephone number to the 
association within ten days after the change. 

 (2) The association must establish data elements and procedures for the registration of 
third-party administrators necessary to implement this section in its plan of operation. 

RCW 70.290.080. Limitation of liability 

No liability on the part of, and no cause of action of any nature, shall arise against any 
member of the board of the association, against an employee or agent of the association, or 
against any health care provider for any lawful action taken by them in the performance of 
their duties or required activities under this chapter. 

RCW 70.290.090. Vote to recommend termination of the association - Disposition of 
funds 

(1) The association board may, on or after June 30, 2015, vote to recommend termination 
of the association if it finds that the original intent of its formation and operation, 
which is to ensure more cost-effective purchase and distribution of vaccine than if 
provided through uncoordinated purchase by health care providers, has not been 
achieved. The association board shall provide notice of the recommendation to the 
relevant policy and fiscal committees of the legislature within thirty days of the vote 
being taken by the association board. If the legislature has not acted by the last day of 
the next regular legislative session to reject the board's recommendation, the board 
may vote to permanently dissolve the association. 

(2) In the event of a voluntary or involuntary dissolution of the association, funds 
remaining in the universal purchase vaccine account created in RCW 43.70.720 that 
were collected under this chapter must be returned to the member health carrier and 
third-party administrators in proportion to their previous year's contribution, from any 
balance remaining following the repayment of any prepayments for start-up funding 
not previously recouped by such member. 

RCW 70.290.100. Physicians and clinics ordering state supplied vaccine — Tracking of 
vaccine delivered — Documentation 

Physicians and clinics ordering state supplied vaccine must ensure they have billing 
mechanisms and practices in place that enable the association to accurately track vaccine 
delivered to association members’ covered lives and must submit documentation in such a 
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form as may be prescribed by the board in consultation with state physician organizations. 
Physicians and other persons providing childhood immunization are strongly encouraged to 
use state supplied vaccine wherever possible. Nothing in this chapter prohibits health carriers 
and third-party administrators from denying claims for vaccine serum costs when the serum 
or serums providing similar protection are provided or available via state supplied vaccine. 

RCW 70.290.110. Judicial invalidation of program’s funding — Termination of 
program 

If the requirement that any segment of health carriers, third-party administrators, or state or 
local governmental entities provide funding for the program established in this chapter is 
invalidated by a court of competent jurisdiction, the board of the association may terminate 
the program one hundred twenty days following a final judicial determination on the matter. 

RCW 70.290.900. Effective date — 2010 c 174 

This act is necessary for the immediate preservation of the public peace, health, or safety, or 
support of the state government and its existing public institutions, and takes effect 
immediately [March 23, 2010]. 

 
Title 43. State government - executive 

Chapter 70. Department of health 
RCW 43.70.720. Universal vaccine purchase account 

The universal vaccine purchase account is created in the custody of the state treasurer. 
Receipts from public and private sources for the purpose of increasing access to vaccines for 
children may be deposited into the account. Expenditures from the account must be used 
exclusively for the purchase of vaccines, at no cost to health care providers in Washington, to 
administer to children under nineteen years old who are not eligible to receive vaccines at no 
cost through federal programs. Only the secretary or the secretary's designee may authorize 
expenditures from the account. The account is subject to allotment procedures under chapter 
43.88 RCW, but an appropriation is not required for expenditures. 

 
Title 48. Insurance 

Chapter 43. Insurance Reform 
RCW 48.43.690. Assessments under RCW 70.290.040 considered medical expenses 

Assessments paid by carriers under RCW 70.290.040 may be considered medical expenses 
for purposes of rate setting and regulatory filings. 
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Title 82. Excise taxes 
Chapter 04. Business and occupation tax 

RCW 82.04.640. Exemptions - Washington vaccine association - Certain assessments 
received 

This chapter does not apply to assessments described in RCW 70.290.030 and  70.290.040 
received by a nonprofit corporation established under RCW 70.290.020. 
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November 8, 2018 WVA Meeting of the Board of Directors 
Proposed Form of Votes 

Items under Agenda Section 2: 

VOTED: To approve the minutes of the June 28, 2018 Board Meeting. 

[To approve the minutes of the June 28, 2018 Board Meeting with the changes 
suggested at the meeting.] 

VOTED: To approve the minutes of the September 18, 2018 Finance Committee 
Meeting. 

[To approve the minutes of the September 18, 2018 Finance Committee 
Meeting with the changes suggested at the meeting.] 

Items under Agenda Section 3: 

VOTED: To approve WVA Officers as additional signatories on WVA Morgan Stanley 
accounts. 

[To approve WVA Officers as additional signatories on WVA Morgan Stanley 
accounts with the changes suggested at the meeting.] 

Items under Agenda Section 4: 

VOTED: To adopt recommended alternate settlement report plan. 

[To adopt the recommended alternate settlement report plan with the changes 
suggested at the meeting.] 

VOTED: To authorize a KV twelve-month special project to perform requested work to 
implement an alternative settlement report process, with a monthly cap not to 
exceed $5,000. 

[To authorize a KV twelve-month special project to perform requested work to 
implement an alternative settlement report process, with a monthly cap not to 
exceed $5,000 with the changes suggested at the meeting.] 

The following are suggested forms of votes only. They are intended to be an aid to facilitate 
work by individual directors.  All Board policy and the final form of votes is exclusively 

the province of the Board acting collectively as the Board of Directors. 
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VOTED: To authorize the ED to renew and keep current all WVA insurance policies in 
consultation with general counsel. 

[To authorize the ED to renew and keep current all WVA insurance policies in 
consultation with general counsel with the changes suggested at the meeting.] 

VOTED: To authorize the ED to review and approve all routine, WVA financial 
transactions including but not limited to refund checks, imprest account 
transactions, board-authorized contractor invoices, and insurance premiums. 

[To authorize the ED to review and approve all routine WVA financial 
transactions including but not limited to refund checks, imprest account 
transactions, board-authorized contractor invoices, and insurance premiums 
with the changes suggested at the meeting.] 

Item under Agenda Section 5: 

VOTED: To ratify the action of the Audit Committee in authorizing publication of the 
2017/18 Financial Statements and independent auditor’s report. 

[To ratify the action of the Audit Committee in authorizing publication of the 
2017/18 Financial Statements and independent auditor’s report with the 
changes suggested at the meeting.] 

VOTED: To authorize KidsVax® to proceed with publication of the 2017/18 WVA 
Annual Report in the form as presented to the Board. 

[To authorize KidsVax® to proceed with publication of the 2017/18 WVA 
Annual Report with the changes suggested at the meeting.] 

VOTED: To adopt the annual operations budget as presented. 

[To adopt the annual operations budget with the changes suggested at the 
meeting.] 

[To authorize the Audit/Finance Committee to finalize the annual operations 
budget.] 

Item under Agenda Section 8: 

VOTED: To affirm John Sobeck, M.D. as the Chairman of the WVA Board of Directors for 
a one-year term. 

VOTED: To affirm Beth Harvey, M.D. as the Vice-Chair of the WVA Board of Directors for 
a one-year term. 

VOTED: To affirm Ed Marcuse, M.D. as the Secretary of the WVA Board of Directors for a 
one-year term. 

VOTED: To affirm Derek LeBrun as the Treasurer of the WVA Board of Directors for a 
one-year term. 
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VOTED: To affirm the continuation of Board Member Chad Murphy, whose term renews 
in 2020 pursuant to RCW 70.290.030 (3)( a). 
 

VOTED: To affirm the continuation of Board Member Ed Marcuse, whose term renews in 
2021 pursuant to RCW 70.290.030 (3)(e). 
 

VOTED: To affirm the continuation of Board Member Cathy Falanga, whose term renews 
in 2021 pursuant to RCW 70.290.030. (3)(b). 
 

VOTED: To approve the individuals listed on the WVA Committees list presented at the 
meeting to serve on the Finance, Operations, and Vaccine Committees, 
respectively, with the Committee chairs listed. 
 

 [To approve the individuals listed on the WVA Committees list presented at the 
meeting to serve on the Finance, Operations, and Vaccine Committees, 
respectively, with the Committee chairs listed with the changes suggested at the 
meeting.] 

  
EXECUTIVE SESSION: 
 
[Note:  Certain of the proposed votes for this meeting require prior changes to the governance documents 
of the Association.  These are presented on the understanding that the effective date of any action 
approved or agreement executed pursuant to these votes shall not be prior to the effective date of any 
corresponding governance document (e.g. Plan of Operation or Bylaws) change required.] 

  
VOTED: 
 

To authorize payment of Chairman Sobeck’s travel-related expenses to D.C. for 
TRICARE work. 
 

 [To authorize payment of Chairman Sobeck’s travel-related expenses to D.C. for 
TRICARE work with the changes suggested at the meeting.] 
 

VOTED:  To authorize the Chairman to execute the ED employee agreement on behalf of 
the WVA. 
 

 [To authorize the Chairman to execute the ED employee agreement on behalf of 
the WVA with the changes suggested at the meeting.] 
 

VOTED:  To authorize the Chairman to execute the KV administrative services contract 
on behalf of the WVA. 
 

 [To authorize the Chairman to execute the KV administrative services contract 
on behalf of the WVA with the changes suggested at the meeting.] 
 

VOTED: To authorize general counsel work on recommended bylaws and policy changes 
necessitated by new director and administrative services contracts. 
 

 [To authorize general counsel work on recommended bylaws and policy 
changes necessitated by new director and administrative services contracts 
with the changes suggested at the meeting.] 
 

VOTED: To authorize the ED to execute an agreement with Ellis, Li, & McKinstry for WVA 
meeting and work space, meeting support, and other essential services at the cost 
of $5,000 annually plus reasonable expenses. 
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 [To authorize the ED to execute an agreement with Ellis, Li, & McKinstry for WVA 
meeting and work space, meeting support, and other essential services at the cost 
of $5,000 annually plus reasonable expenses with the changes suggested at the 
meeting.] 
 

VOTED: To authorize the Chairman, upon consultation with WVA’s outside general 
counsel, to take any other action or execute any other agreement which he may 
determine to be helpful or necessary to implement any of the votes executed in 
Executive Session. 
 

 [To authorize the Chairman, upon consultation with WVA’s outside general 
counsel, to take any other action or execute any other agreement which he may 
determine to be helpful or necessary to implement any of the votes executed in 
Executive Session with the changes suggested at the meeting.] 
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Directions to Ellis, Li & McKinstry 
Market Place Tower 

2025 First Avenue, PH-A 
Seattle, WA 98121 

Traveling South on I-5: 
• Take the Stewart St/Denny Way exit
• Continue straight on Stewart St for approximately 13 blocks
• Turn RIGHT onto 1st Ave
• Continue north on 1st Ave for approximately 2 blocks
• Turn LEFT onto Lenora St
• Turn LEFT into the first gate on Lenora to enter the garage

Traveling North on I-5: 
• Take the Seneca St exit (exit only on left-hand side of freeway)
• Turn RIGHT onto 1st Ave
• Continue north on 1st Ave for approximately 7 blocks
• Turn LEFT onto Lenora St
• Turn LEFT into the first gate on Lenora to enter the garage

Traveling West on I-90: 
• Connect onto I-5 N
• Take the Madison St/Convention Pl exit
• Stay straight onto 7th Avenue
• Turn LEFT onto Madison Street (at light)
• Continue straight, down the hill, for approximately 6 blocks
• Turn RIGHT onto 1st Ave
• Continue north on 1st Ave for approximately 9 blocks
• Turn LEFT onto Lenora St
• Turn LEFT into the first gate on Lenora to enter the garage

Traveling West on Hwy 520: 
• Follow exit signs for downtown Seattle/I-5 S
• Exit road becomes Stewart St
• Continue straight on Stewart St for approximately 13 blocks
• Turn RIGHT onto 1st Ave
• Go north on 1st Ave for approximately 2 blocks
• Turn LEFT onto Lenora St
• Turn LEFT into the first gate on Lenora to enter the garage

To the Penthouse from Parking Garage: 
• Use elevator to reach Market Place Tower lobby
• Switch to 1 of the 4 back elevators
• Penthouse is labeled PH on elevator buttons
• Exit left into the lobby
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2019 WVA Corporate Governance Calendar 
(Board Meeting and Committee Meeting Schedules) 

 

Month 

Board Planning 
Meeting 

2-3:30 PM 
(Held if needed) 

Board 
Meeting 
2-4 PM 

Vaccine  
Committee  

12:00-1:00 PM 

Finance  
Committee  

3-4 PM 

Operations 
Committee 

12:30-1:30 PM 

January      

February      

March TBD     

April  X 
April 25 

X  
April 25   

May    X 
May 23 

X 
May 2 

June TBD X 
June 27    

July      

August      

September    X 
September 19  

October TBD    X 
October 30 

November  X 
November 7 

X 
November 7   

December      

 
*All times are Pacific Standard Time 

 
• In-person WVA Board meetings are from 2:00 – 4:00 PM at the offices of Ellis, Li &McKinstry, generally on Thursdays. 

• A written annual report may serve in lieu of an annual meeting of members. (Bylaws section 4.2) 

• Officers are elected for 1-year terms at the annual meeting of the Board (Bylaws section 6.1) 

• Committees may adjust their scheduled meeting dates or times for the convenience of their members. 
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	To affirm Derek LeBrun as the Treasurer of the WVA Board of Directors for a one-year term.
	VOTED:
	To affirm the continuation of Board Member Chad Murphy, whose term renews in 2020 pursuant to RCW 70.290.030 (3)( a).
	VOTED:
	To affirm the continuation of Board Member Ed Marcuse, whose term renews in 2021 pursuant to RCW 70.290.030 (3)(e).
	VOTED:
	To affirm the continuation of Board Member Cathy Falanga, whose term renews in 2021 pursuant to RCW 70.290.030. (3)(b).
	VOTED:
	To approve the individuals listed on the WVA Committees list presented at the meeting to serve on the Finance, Operations, and Vaccine Committees, respectively, with the Committee chairs listed.
	VOTED:
	[To approve the individuals listed on the WVA Committees list presented at the meeting to serve on the Finance, Operations, and Vaccine Committees, respectively, with the Committee chairs listed with the changes suggested at the meeting.]
	EXECUTIVE SESSION:
	[Note:  Certain of the proposed votes for this meeting require prior changes to the governance documents of the Association.  These are presented on the understanding that the effective date of any action approved or agreement executed pursuant to these votes shall not be prior to the effective date of any corresponding governance document (e.g. Plan of Operation or Bylaws) change required.]
	To authorize payment of Chairman Sobeck’s travel-related expenses to D.C. for
	VOTED:
	TRICARE work.
	[To authorize payment of Chairman Sobeck’s travel-related expenses to D.C. for TRICARE work with the changes suggested at the meeting.]
	To authorize the Chairman to execute the ED employee agreement on behalf of the WVA.
	VOTED: 
	[To authorize the Chairman to execute the ED employee agreement on behalf of the WVA with the changes suggested at the meeting.]
	To authorize the Chairman to execute the KV administrative services contract on behalf of the WVA.
	VOTED: 
	[To authorize the Chairman to execute the KV administrative services contract on behalf of the WVA with the changes suggested at the meeting.]
	To authorize general counsel work on recommended bylaws and policy changes necessitated by new director and administrative services contracts.
	VOTED:
	[To authorize general counsel work on recommended bylaws and policy changes necessitated by new director and administrative services contracts with the changes suggested at the meeting.]
	To authorize the ED to execute an agreement with Ellis, Li, & McKinstry for WVA meeting and work space, meeting support, and other essential services at the cost of $5,000 annually plus reasonable expenses.
	VOTED:
	[To authorize the ED to execute an agreement with Ellis, Li, & McKinstry for WVA meeting and work space, meeting support, and other essential services at the cost of $5,000 annually plus reasonable expenses with the changes suggested at the meeting.]
	To authorize the Chairman, upon consultation with WVA’s outside general counsel, to take any other action or execute any other agreement which he may determine to be helpful or necessary to implement any of the votes executed in Executive Session.
	VOTED:
	[To authorize the Chairman, upon consultation with WVA’s outside general counsel, to take any other action or execute any other agreement which he may determine to be helpful or necessary to implement any of the votes executed in Executive Session with the changes suggested at the meeting.]
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